



AN OHIOHEALTH AFFILIATE

Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center

Community Health Needs Assessment

October 3, 2022



Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center is a premier medical facility located in Cambridge and serving Guernsey and Noble Counties in southeastern Ohio. Over the years, we've grown from a small community hospital into an innovative and efficient health care facility serving over 4,000 inpatient and 100,000 outpatient community members each year.

Wendy Elliott, Chief Executive Officer and President 1341 Clark Street Cambridge, OH 43725

Board Approval of CHNA: September 26, 2022 Initial Web Posting of CHNA Report: October 3, 2022 Tax Identification #: 31-4391798



Table of Contents

Introduction	1
A. Definition of the Community Served by the Hospital Facility and How the Community Served Was Determined	4
B. Community Demographics	5
C. Existing Healthcare Facilities and Resources within the Community Available to Respond to the Community's Health Needs	6
D. How Data was Obtained	26
E. Significant Health Needs of the Community	27
F. Primary, Chronic Disease and Other Health Needs of Uninsured, Low-Income and Minority Populations	28
G. Process for Identifying and Prioritizing Community Health Needs	29
H. Process for Consulting with Persons Representing the Community's Interests and Input Provided	32
I. Impact of Actions Taken to Address the Significant Health Needs Identified in the Hospital Facility's 2019 Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)	33
References	34
Appendix A. Data and Information from the 2019 State Health Assessment	38
Appendix B. Summary of Guernsey and Noble Counties Health and Social Determinants of Health Data	43
Appendix C. List of Community Stakeholders in SEORMC's Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)	65
Appendix D. Documentation of Program Impacts from the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) and Implementation Strategy Adopted in 2019 by Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)	.102
· g· - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Introduction

Located in Guernsey County, Ohio, Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) has served Guernsey and Noble Counties and surrounding communities since 1952. SEORMC continues to address the changing healthcare needs of the local communities (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019). SEORMC is also more commonly called Southeastern Med and/or Guernsey Health Systems in the community. SEORMC, and its compassionate team of healthcare providers and support staff, provides top quality, holistic care to patients and families within their own local community (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019). Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center, located at 1341 Clark St., Cambridge, Ohio 43725, is a 98-bed hospital facility that offers adult medical and surgical care, an adult intensive care unit and labor and delivery services (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019). Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center has 56 active medical staff, and offers various surgical procedures, treatment options, therapies and primary care services. Outpatient services include laboratory services, computed tomography (CT) scanning, mammography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), x-ray, oncology and infusion services, and a cardiac and pulmonary rehabilitation program (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019). In 2020, Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center had 2,603 inpatient admissions, 19,290 emergency department visits, 118,857 outpatient visits and 2,833 surgeries.

SEORMC operates six satellite facilities: (a) Outpatient Laboratory draw station located at 1452 Clark St., Cambridge, Ohio 43725 (Guernsey County); (b) Outpatient Physical Therapy Caldwell Office located at 18125 Woodsfield Road, Caldwell, Ohio 43724 (Noble County); (c) Family Practice Office located at 18125 Woodsfield Rd., Caldwell, Ohio, 43724 (Noble County); (d) WorkPro Occupational Medicine located at 10095 Brick Church Rd, Cambridge, Ohio 43725 (Guernsey County); and (e) Outpatient Physical Therapy Cambridge Office located at 10095 Brick Church Rd, Cambridge, OH 43725 (Guernsey County). SEORMC also operates the which is a multidisciplinary approach to cancer treatment. The John W. and Edna McManus Shepard Cancer Center located at 1455 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio, offers state-of-the-art equipment for radiation oncology, 3D treatment planning and delivery techniques and intensity modular radiation therapy (IMRT).

SEORMC has been an affiliate of OhioHealth since 2017. OhioHealth is a nationally recognized, not-for-profit, charitable, healthcare outreach of the United Methodist Church. Based in Columbus, Ohio, OhioHealth is currently recognized by Fortune Magazine as one of the "100 Best Companies to Work For." Serving its communities since 1891, it is a family of 30,000 associates, physicians and volunteers, and a network of 12 hospitals, 60+ ambulatory sites, hospice, home-health, medical equipment, and other health services spanning a 47-county area (OhioHealth, 2015-2021). OhioHealth's mission is "to improve the health of those we serve." Through its affiliation with OhioHealth, SEORMC is a member of the OhioHealth Stroke Network and has access to OhioHealth's expertise in heart and vascular care, cancer care, genetic counseling, and hospital management.

SEORMC has received various awards, recognitions related to excellent patient care, and the use of advanced technology:

- The Joint Commission Joint Commission Accreditation Joint Commission standards are the basis
 of an objective evaluation process that can help health care organizations measure, assess, and improve
 performance. The standards focus on patient care and organization functions that are essential to providing
 safe, high-quality care. Earning their seal of accreditation is one of the highest honors a hospital can
 achieve.
- Approved Provider Unit though Ohio Nurses Association (ONA) for continuing nursing education-2021 — ONA is the largest approver unit of continuing education in the country, accredited by the American Nurses Credentialing Center's Commission on Accreditation. An approved provider unit with distinction is the highest honor awarded to provider units through the ONA (Ohio Nurses Association, 2021)
- Accreditation by Commission on Cancer (CoC) in 2020 awarded by the American College of
 Surgeons in recognition of SEORMC's cancer programs and services, and outreach, which recognizes the
 hospital's commitment to providing comprehensive, high-quality, and multidisciplinary patient centered care.

- Commission on Cancer Accreditation through 2022 The Commission on Cancer (CoC), a program of
 the American College of Surgeons, recognizes cancer care programs for their commitment to providing
 comprehensive, high quality, and multidisciplinary patient centered care. Through the CoC, Southeastern
 Med's Cancer Center has access to reporting tools to aid in benchmarking and improving outcomes.
- National Accreditation Program for Breast Centers Accreditation by the National Accreditation
 Program for Breast Centers (NAPBC) is granted only to those centers that have voluntarily committed to
 provide the highest quality care to patients with diseases of the breast. Each center must undergo a rigorous
 evaluation and review of its performance and compliance with the NAPBC standards.
- American College of Radiology Breast Imaging Center of Excellence The Breast Imaging Center of
 Excellence (BICOE) designation is awarded to breast imaging centers that achieve excellence by seeking
 and earning accreditation in all ACR voluntary breast-imaging accreditation programs and modules, in
 addition to the mandatory Mammography Accreditation Program.
- American College of Radiology (ACR) Accreditation (The Gold Standard) From 2021 to 2023, SEORMC is recognized as the gold standard in medical imaging. By displaying the gold seals of ACR Accreditation, you can demonstrate to your patients, payers and referring physicians that you are committed to providing the safest and best quality care possible.
- College of American Pathologists Accreditation 2019 & 2021 The College of American Pathologists
 (CAP's) Laboratory Accreditation Program accredits the entire spectrum of laboratory test disciplines with
 the most scientifically rigorous customized checklist requirements.
- Sleep Lab Accreditation though Accreditation Commission for Health Care IACHC) By achieving
 ACHC Accreditation, sleep health care providers demonstrate their commitment to providing the highestquality service through compliance with national regulations and industry best practices.
- Lifeline of Ohio HRSA Platinum award in 2020 and 2021 Lifeline of recognizes SEORMC for meeting all campaign goals including hospital activities, registered donors, and promotion of the organization.
- BREW (Boldly Recognizing Exceptional Women) Awarded to SEORMC CEO in 2021— The Cambridge
 Area Chamber of Commerce awarded Wendy Elliott (SEORMC CEO) for her exceptional work and
 leadership within the community. The BREW Award is given to exceptional women who live or work in
 Cambridge, Ohio (Guernsey County) and have demonstrated through example or deeds and who has
 served as role models to empower others.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 requires not-for-profit hospitals to conduct a community health needs assessment (CHNA) once every three years (Internal Revenue Service, 2018). Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) utilized the priority health needs that were identified in the following:

- Guernsey County Community Health Assessment publicly released in June 2020
- Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan publicly released in July 2021
- Noble County Community Health Assessment publicly released in March 2022

On 7/19/2022, SEORMC sent a letter to the community that summarizes the priority health needs, priority factor, and the alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan. The letter was sent to representatives from the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department and the Noble County Health Department, and organizations representing medically underserved, low-income, minority populations in Guernsey and Noble Counties.

SEORMC's priority health needs, priority factor and alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) are summarized in the Table below.

Priority Need/Factor	SEORMC Prioritized Needs	Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department	Noble County Health Department	Align with the State Health Improvement Plan?
Priority Need	Drug addiction and substance use	Drug addiction	Substance Use	Yes
Priority Need	Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease, diabetes, high cholesterol, high blood pressure)	Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease)	Chronic disease (diabetes, heart disease risk factors such as high cholesterol, high blood pressure)	Yes
Priority Need	Mental health (anxiety and depression)	Mental health (depression)	Mental health (anxiety and depression)	Yes
Priority Factor	Community conditions (Including poverty)	Poverty	Not applicable	Yes

In partnership with the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department and the Noble County Health Department and various community stakeholders, SEORMC has developed the 2023–2025 Implementation Strategy to meet community health needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties. Through these efforts, SEORMC aims to fulfill its mission, "to provide high quality, comprehensive, affordable, patient-centered health care in a caring and safe environment while addressing community needs." Moreover, SEORMC's Implementation Strategy will include actions and strategies that align with the Ohio 2020–2022 State Health Improvement Plan (Health Policy Institute of Ohio and Ohio Department of Health, 2020).

For information about SEORMC's CHNA process and for a copy of the reports please visit https://www.seormc.org/about/community-health-needs-assessment.html or contact Wendy Elliott, president, telephone number 740-439-8112, email wendy.Elliott.@ohiohealth.com. Written comments regarding this CHNA report may also be submitted to Wendy Elliott.

A. Definition of the Community Served by the Hospital Facility and How the Community Served Was Determined

A - 1. Hospital Location and ZIP Codes of Communities Served

The Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) is located at 1341 Clark St, Cambridge, OH 43725. SEORMC serves primarily residents from Guernsey and Noble Counties. The Guernsey County Zip Codes include all of 43722, 43723, 43725, 43732, 43733, 43736, 43749, 43750, 43755, 43768, 43772, 43773, 43778, 43780, and part of 43762, 43832, 43837, 43973, 43983 and 44699 (Zip-Codes, 2003-2022). The Noble County Zip Codes include all of 43711, 43717, 43724, 43779, 43788 and 45727 and part of 43732, 43772, 43773, 43778, 43780, 45715, 45744, 45745 and 45746 (Zip-Codes, 2003-2022).

A - 2. Percentage of Patients Served from Guernsey and Noble Counties, Ohio

A - 2 1. Outpatient

Review of SEORMC internal data has shown that for Calendar Year 2021, 73.8 percent of all patients who had outpatient visits and/or procedures at SEORMC resided in **Guernsey County** at the time of outpatient visits and/or when the procedure was done. Total of 9.7 percent of all patients who had outpatient visits and/or procedures at SEORMC resided in **Noble County** at the time of outpatient visits and/or when the procedure was done.

A - 2.2. Inpatient

Review of SEORMC internal data has shown that for Calendar Year 2021, 70.4% of patients who were admitted to the hospital reside in Guernsey County and 9% came from Noble County at the time of admission.

A - 2.3. Emergency Department

Review of SEORMC internal data has shown that for Calendar year 2021, 76.1% of patients who were seen at the Emergency Department reside in Guernsey County and 7.5% reside in Noble County.

B. Community Demographics

B-1. Total population

Guernsey County – In 2021, the population of Guernsey County was 38,438. (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

Noble County - In 2021, the population of Noble County was 14,115. (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

B - 2. Race and Ethnicity

Guernsey County – In 2021, among Guernsey County residents, 95 percent were White, 1.1 percent were African American, 0.2 percent were Native American, 0.1 percent were Asian, 0 percent Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 0.9 percent were Hispanic (may be of any race), 0.8 percent were Other Races, and 2.4 percent were from two or more races (Ohio Development Services Agency, n.d.). Minorities represented 5.8 percent of the total population (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

Noble County – In 2021, among Noble County residents, 92.6 percent were White, 5.6 percent were African American, 0.2 percent were Native American, 0.1 percent were Asian, 0 percent Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 0.9 percent were Hispanic (may be of any race), 0.7 percent were Other rRces, and 0.8 percent were identified as two or more races (Ohio Development Services Agency, n.d.). Minorities represented 7.5 percent of the total population (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

B - 3. Age

Guernsey County – In 2020, among Guernsey County residents, 5.9 percent of the population were younger than 5-years-old, 16.2 percent were ages 5–17, 7.9 percent were ages 18–24, 22.9 percent were ages 25–44, 28 percent were ages 45–64 and 19.1 percent were 65 years or older. The median age was 42.2 years (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

Noble County – In 2020, among Noble County residents, 4.9 percent of the population were younger than 5-years-old, 13.6 percent were ages 5–17, 4.7 percent were ages 18–24, 22.3 percent were ages 25–44, 27.8 percent were ages 45–64 and 26.7 percent were 65 years or older. The median age was 50.4 years (Ohio Development Services Agency, n.d.).

B-4. Income

Guernsey County – The median household income in Guernsey County for 2021 was \$45,917 and per capita income was \$41,613. Approximately 14.8 percent of families and 19.8 percent of individuals had income below the poverty level (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

Noble County – The median household income in Noble County for 2021 was \$46,897 and per capita income was \$27,703. Approximately 9.1 percent of families and 15.6 percent of individuals had income below the poverty level (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.).

Additional demographic, health and social determinants of health data for Guernsey and Noble Counties are available in the following:

- 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Assessment (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020)
- 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020)
- 2022 Noble County Community Health Assessment (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council
 of Northwest Ohio, 2022)
- County Health Rankings (University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute and Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2022)
- Ohio Department of Development County Trends (Ohio Department of Development, n.d.)

C. Existing Healthcare Facilities and Resources within the Community Available to Respond to the Community's Health Needs

- C 1. Healthcare facilities and community resources that address lack of physical health care specialists
 - C 1.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) SEORMC is recognized for its specialty services such as (but not limited to) heart and vascular, pain management, sleep medicine, cancer treatment, orthopedics, neurology, pediatrics, podiatry, pulmonary care through partnership with OhioHealth (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019).
 - C 1.1.1. Heart and Vascular Services partnering with OhioHealth cardiologists to assist patients with cardiovascular disease management, defibrillator, and pacemaker checks, holter and event monitoring, and vascular consultations. SEORMC's Cardiovascular and Pulmonary lab provides echocardiograms, transesophageal echocardiograms, stress echo, pulmonary function testing and cardiac and pulmonary rehabilitation.
 - C 1.1.2. Pain Management assists patients with chronic pain management for conditions such as neck and back pain, pinched nerves, sciatica, headaches, whiplash, arthritis, Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy, chronic pelvic pain, shingles pain, and muscle spasms.
 - C 1.1.3. Sleep Medicine The Sleep Disorders Laboratory is equipped with the latest state-of-the-art technology and medical instruments to perform sleep evaluation studies and accurately diagnose any sleep disorder. The Sleep Disorders Laboratory is supervised by a Sleep Medicine Board-Certified physician. The Sleep Medicine team diagnose and treats sleep apnea, snoring, narcolepsy, restless legs syndrome, and insomnia.
 - **C 1.1.4. Cancer Services** provides cancer screenings to surgery, radiation oncology, and medical oncology including chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and hormonal therapy.
 - **C 1.1.5**. **Ambulatory Services** provides personal consultations, advanced testing, and precision non-surgical procedures to long-term recurring treatments—including chemotherapy and radiation therapy.
 - C 1.1.6. Orthopedic Services Orthopedic specialists provides treatment for conditions such as: arthritis, bone deformities, bone infections, bone spurs, bone tumors, bursitis, osteopenia, osteoporosis, and scoliosis. Injuries including anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injuries, fractures, dislocated joints, rotator cuff injuries and repairs, sports injuries, strained or torn muscle ligaments, tendonitis, tennis elbow, and work-related injuries. SEORMC's outpatient orthopedic services is provided at the Superior Med Orthopedics-North, which is located at 1230A Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The top clinical diagnoses of patients seen include osteoarthritis of the knee, osteoarthritis of the shoulder, pain in the front of the knee or kneecap, neck pain, pain in tendon of the wrist and lower thumb, hip pain, pain and stiffness of shoulder.

- **C 1.1.7. Neurology Services** equipped with the latest equipment to offer tests such as: Computerized Axial Tomography (CAT), Electroencephalography (EEG), Electromyography (EMG), and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)
- **C 1.1.8. Pediatrics —** provide wellness checks, immunizations, evaluations of development, and safety and behavioral education.
- C 1.1.9. Foot and Ankle Care and Podiatry provides medical care to patients with medical care related to the foot. SEORMC's outpatient foot and ankle care and podiatry is provided at the Superior Med Foot and Ankle and Podiatry, which is located at 1230B Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The top clinical diagnoses of patients seen at the Superior Med Foot and Ankle and Podiatry include ringworm of nails. Type 2 diabetes mellitus with polyneuropathy, Type 2 diabetes mellitus with foot ulcer, Inflammation of the plantar fascia, pain in right foot, paresthesia of skin, ingrown nail, non-pressure chronic ulcer of the foot, hammer toes, follow-up exam post treatment.
- **C 1.1.10. Pulmonary Care** Offers complete pulmonary and diagnostic treatment options for conditions such as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), asthma, cystic fibrosis, pneumonia, tuberculosis, pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary embolism, and pulmonary edema.

SEORMC's outpatient pulmonary care is provided at the Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic, which is in 1335 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic specializes in pulmonary care, critical care, and sleep medicine. The top clinical diagnoses of patients seen in the Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic include obstructive sleep apnea, unspecified atrial fibrillation, pneumonia due to unspecified organism, pneumonia die to SARS-associated coronavirus, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchiectasis with acute exacerbation, acute and chronic respiratory failure with hypoxia, cough, shortness of breath.

C – 1.1.11. Urology — partnered with OhioHealth, SEORMC offers issues such as kidney stones, urinary incontinence, prostate disease and enlargement, urinary tract infections and diagnosis and treatment of prostate, kidney, and bladder cancers.

SEORMC's outpatient urology care is provided at the The Superior Med Urology Clinic, which is located at 1200 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The top clinical diagnoses of patients include prostate cancer, urinary bladder cancer, kidney infection, kidney swelling, kidney stones, urge incontinence, enlargement of the prostate gland, elevated prostate specific antigen (PSA).

- C 1.2. Medical Associates Medical Associates of Cambridge's goal is "to provide the highest quality, compassionate, preventative, and chronic care in our region (Medical Associates of Cambridge, 2022)." Medical Associates offers the following:
 - C 1.2.1. Annual well visits assesses routine objective measurements and up-to-date screenings
 - **C 1.2.2. On site laboratory services** provide prompt and accurate laboratory results
 - **C 1.2.3. Diabetes management** which provides diabetes education, management resources, and preventative measures

- C 1.2.4. Care Coordination and transition of care assists with communications, access to medical care and home and community services, care plans, disease management, care post hospitalization, advance care planning, scheduling follow-up appointments
- **C 1.2.5. Senior care advantage** focuses on strong relationships between patients and doctors to attain good health outcomes
- C 1.3. Muskingum Valley Health Centers offers adult health, women's health, child health, podiatry, dental care, behavioral health, and addiction services (Muskingum Valley Health Centers, 2022)
 - **C 1.3.1. Adult health** offers acute care and chronic management, podiatry services, minor surgeries, counseling, mental health care, laboratory services, referral, assistance with medications, diabetes education.
 - C 1.3.2. Women's health offers standard gynecological exams, Pap smears, breast exams, birth control, colposcopies, biopsies in the endometrium, prenatal and obstetrics care, childbirth education, parenting, cessation of smoking.
 - **C 1.3.3. Child health** offers health care services from birth to age 19. Services include well-care check-ups
 - **C 1.3.4. Podiatry** treats persistent or sudden onset problems of the ankle ad foot. The podiatry service specializes in bunions, calluses, corns, diabetic foot exams, hammertoes, heel pain, ingrown toenails, plantar warts.
 - C 1.3.5. Dental care provides primary dental services and individualized treatment plans related to dental health needs
 - **C 1.3.6. Behavioral health** provides telehealth or in-person visits for people who have depression, stress, feeling anxious, or vulnerable.
 - C 1.3.7. Addiction services includes outpatient counseling (drug/alcohol assessments, psychiatry, individual counseling), management of withdrawal symptoms, and linkage to high level of care.
- C 1.4. Genesis Healthcare System Genesis Healthcare System offers primary care, heart and vascular services, orthopedics, cancer care, surgical services, neuroscience, emergency and trauma, women's services, and lung services (Genesis Healthcare System, 2022).
 - C 1.4.1. Primary Care family medicine or internal medicine physician or an advanced practice provider provides care for patients with back strains and sprains, X-rays, skin tag removal, sinus infection, flu symptoms, urinary track infections, rashes, well woman exams, and other acute and chronic conditions. Primary care services are available in Coshocton, Crooksville, Dresden, Junction City, New Concord, New Lexington, Somerset, and Zanesville.
 - C 1.4.2. Heart and Vascular Services comprised of cardiologists, cardiothoracic and vascular surgeons, electrophysiologists, interventional cardiologists, cardiac anesthesiologists and cardiac rehabilitation specialists. The structural heart program offers access to robotic-assisted and minimally-invasive procedures such as (a) Patent Foramen Ovale Closure, Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement (TAVR) and Impella Heart Pump Implementation. Patients also have access to heart and vascular rehabilitation, Anticoagulation Clinic, Vein Center, Congestive Heart Failure Clinic.
 - **C 1.4.3. Orthopedics —** services for treating problems of the joint, bones and muscles. These include (a) nonsurgical services and treatments, (b)

- orthopedic surgery, (c) physical therapy, (d) occupational therapy, (e) sports medicine, (e) orthopedic Walk-In Clinic for minor injuries, and (f) gym for exercising under medical supervision.
- C 1.4.4. Cancer Care certified by the American Society of Clinical Oncology. The team is made up of cancer surgeons, oncologists, pathologists, oncology certified nurses, and plastic surgeons that provides initial biopsy, diagnosis, surgery, treatment, follow-up and survivorship. The cancer services include (but not limited to) (a) Breast Care Center, (b) Cancer Care Center, (c) Inpatient care, (d) Palliative Care, (e) Women's Boutique, (f) Cancer Rehabilitation, and (g) education, nutrition and support.
- C 1.4.5. Surgical services The Genesis Center of Surgical Excellence offers minimally invasive and robotic-assisted surgery, and endoscopic procedures.
- C 1.4.6. Neuroscience The Genesis Neuroscience Center offers (a) diagnostic imaging, (b) neurology, (c) neurosurgery, physical therapy, occupational therapy, and other rehabilitation services. Doctors provide diagnosis and treatment of nervous system conditions include (a) acquired brain injury, (b) Alzheimer's Disease, (c) Back and neck pain, (d) Bell's palsy, (e) brain aneurysm, (f) brain and spine malformations, (g) brain and spinal cord tumor, carpal tunnel syndrome, (h) degenerative disc disease, (i) epilepsy, and (j) other neurological conditions.
- C 1.4.7. Emergency and trauma Genesis provide emergency and trauma services for broken bones, chest pain, major allergic reactions, non-stop vomiting, allergic reactions, severe burns, stroke, chest pain, suicidal thoughts, trauma, difficulty breathing, uncontrolled bleeding. The Emergency Department has a community ambulance service and offers support for sexual assault and domestic violence.
- C 1.4.8. Women's services Genesis services include (but not limited to): (a) maternity services, (b) breast imaging services, (c) bone health services, (d) Genesis Women's Boutique, and (e) pediatric hospital care. Other Women's Services at genesis also include breast cancer rehabilitation, physical therapy, and training program for female athletes.
- C 1.4.9. Lung services The Genesis Lung Clinic offers care for asthma, black lung disease, bronchiectasis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchitis, emphysema, collapsed lung, empyema, coughing up blood, interstitial lung diseases, lung cancer, pleural effusions, pulmonary nodules or masses, pneumonia and respiratory failure. A respiratory therapist also hosts the Better Breathing Club to help patients with effective breathing techniques and nutrition education.
- C 2. Healthcare facilities and community resources that address lack of mental health care specialists (chemical dependency counselors, psychiatrists, and psychologists)
 - C 2.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center contracted with AllWell Behavioral Health Services to provide real-time mental health assessments.
 - C 2.2. Allwell Behavioral Health Services Allwell's mission is "to help people feel better, think more clearly, make good decisions, and have healthy relationships".
 - C 2.2.1. Adult services services include (a) FIRST episode, (b) emergency service,(c) counseling and therapy, (d) psychiatry and medication management, (e) primary care services, (f) personal growth programs, (g) crisis intervention and stabilization, (h) housing, (i) supported housing, (j) vocation pr ograms, (k) employment programs, (l) work programs,

- (m) social drop-in centers, (n) peer support, (o) community psychiatric supportive treatment, (p) prevention and wellness, and (q) dual recovery.
- C 2.2.2. Children and teen services services include (a) diagnostic services, (b) counseling and psychotherapy services, (c) community psychiatric supportive treatment, and (d) psychiatry and medication management, (e) residential services, and (f) community education.
- **C 2.2.3. Employer services** includes managed care services and Employee Assistance Program
- C 2.2.4. Provider referral services collaborates with physicians, educators, employers, courts and child advocates to coordinate care and linkage process for the patients.
- C- 2.3. Genesis Healthcare System offers inpatient and outpatient services for adolescents and adults. The inpatient facility has a private, smoke-free, secure unit for adults and pediatrics/adolescents. The outpatient program offers group therapy, stress management, wellness activities, and social services support (Genesis Healthcare System, 2022).
- C 2.4. Mental Health Recovery Services Board serves Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble, and Perry Counties. The Mental Health Recovery Services Board offers (a) Narcotics Anonymous, Alcoholic Anonymous Support Groups, (b) suicide prevention coalitions, (c) Friends and Family Support Group, (d) National Alliance on Mental Illness support groups, (e) partnerships with providers. The providers and affiliates of the Mental Health and Recovery Services Board partners and affiliates in Guernsey and Noble Counties are as follows:
 - C 2.4.1. Allwell Behavioral Health Services Guernsey Counseling Center located in 2500 John Glenn Highway, Cambridge, Ohio 43725 (Guernsey County)
 - C 2.4.2. Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. located in 1009 Steubenville Avenue, Cambridge, Ohio 43725 (Guernsey County)
 - C 2.4.3. Forensic Diagnostic Center of District 9 located in 1109 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725 (Guernsey County)
 - C 2.4.4. Allwell Behavioral Health Services Noble Counseling Center located in 18003 Woodsfield Road, Suite 2, Caldwell, Ohio 43724 (Noble County)
 - C 2.4.5. Noble Behavioral Health Choices 18003 Woodsfield Road, Suite 2, Caldwell, Ohio 43724 (Noble County)

- C 2.5. People to People The mission of People to People, a mental health services agency, is to provide services that empower individuals and families to enhance their quality of life (People to People, 2021). Categories of services include (a) psychiatric services, (b) mental health services, (c) EMDR Therapy, (d) Therapy Services, (e) community support, (f) group activities, Services are provided to clients regardless of ability to pay. In-person and telehealth services are provided. Specifically, People to People offers the following services:
 - C 2.5.1. Therapy for anxiety and depression
 - C 2.5.2. Therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder
 - C 2.5.3. Counseling for individuals, couples and families
 - C- 2.5.4. Parenting support
 - C 2.5.5. Grief counseling
 - C 2.5.6. Work and career issues
 - C 2.5.7. Management of stress
 - C 2.5.8. Addiction and recovery
 - C 2.5.9. Conflict resolution
 - C 2.5.10. Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR)
 - **C 2.5.11.** Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT)
 - C 2.5.12. Photo Therapy
- C 2.6. Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. services include outpatient individual counseling, family-based intensive services, and various groups (closed, open, and support and education. During individual counseling, the counselor helps the client to achieve personal goals. During family-based intensive services, the client experiencing addiction will be asked to identify people who may have an influence in them. The counseling team then works with the family or key persons to identify effective means of supporting the patient (Guernsey County Health Choices, 2022). The Guernsey Health Choices, Inc., provide various types of support groups such as (but not limited to):
 - **C 2.6.1. Closed Group** the participants are encouraged to practice self-change, social skills, and problem solving. The closed group is comprised of the Core Group and the Women's Trauma Group.
 - **C 2.6.2. Open Group** comprised of (a) Intensive Outpatient Program, (b) Relapse Prevention, (c) Medication-Assisted Treatment/Vivitrol Group, (d) Adult Treatment Group, (e) Living in Balance, Jail Program.
 - **C 2.6.3.** Support and Education Groups include (a) Mommy and Me, (b) Children of Addicts, (c) Family and Friends of Addicts.

- C 2.7. Muskingum Behavioral Health offers counseling, prevention and recovery services, Medication-Assisted Treatment, recovery housing, treatment, outreach, recovery supports and prevention (Muskingum Behavioral Health, 2022). Services include (but not limited to):
 - C 2.7.1. Alcohol and substance counseling
 - C 2.7.2. Prevention of alcohol and substance abuse
 - C 2.7.3. Mental health counseling
 - C 2.7.4. Recovery Housing at Cambridge
 - **C 2.7.5.** Intensive Outpatient Program
 - C 2.7.6. Gambling Addiction Rehabilitation
 - C 2.7.7. Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR)
- C 3. Healthcare facilities and community resources that address lack of telehealth for those with no WiFi
 (especially the elderly and those in rural areas)
 - C 3.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) Superior Med -
 - C 3.1.1. Superior Med Family Practice in Cambridge, Ohio located at 1210 Clark St., Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Family Practice offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Family Practice serves at least 1,600 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Family Practice in Cambridge, Ohio serves an average of 4,200 visits per year. Telehealth visits include providing care for the following: (a) COVID-19 and exposure to COVID-19, (b) fever, (c) cough, (d) congestion, (e) sore throat, (f) sinus infection, (g) hypertension, (h) depression, (i) diabetes, (j) cholesterol. Superior Med Family Practice provides access to high quality care through telemedicine, especially if the patient works out-of-town.
 - C –3.1.2. Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio located at 18125 Woodsfield Road, Caldwell, Ohio 43724. The Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio offers telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an lpad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Family Practice serves at least 100 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio serves 2,900 visits per year. Services that are provided through Telehealth visits include (a) COVID-19 and exposure to COVID-19, (b) fever, (c) cough, (d) congestion, (e) sore throat, (f) sinus infection, (g) hypertension, (h) depression, (i) diabetes, (j) cholesterol. Superior Med Family Practice provides access to high quality care through telemedicine, especially if the patient works out-of-town.

- C 3.1.3. Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic located at 1335 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic in Cambridge, Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Pulmonary Clinic serves at least 50 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio serves 4,300 visits per year. Services provided through telehealth include follow-up for sleep laboratory testing and limited chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) follow-up.
- C 3.1.4. Superior Med Urology Clinic located at 1200 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Urology Practice serves at least 100 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Urology Clinic at Cambridge, Ohio serves 4,700 visits per year. Services that are provided as telehealth visits include assessments or follow-up visits for (a) nocturia (urination in the night, (b) renal cyst, (c) urge incontinence, (d) kidney stone, (e) urinary tract infection, (f) hydronephrosis (swelling of kidneys), (g) low back pain, (h) elevated prostate-specific antigen (PSA), (i) microscopic hematuria (blood in urine that is visible in the microscope), and (j) gross hematuria (blood in urine that is visible by the naked eye).
- C 3.1.5. Superior Med Orthopedics North located at 1230A Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Family Practice at Caldwell, Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Orthopedics- North serves at least 30 visits per year. Overall, the Superior Med Urology Clinic at Cambridge, Ohio serves 4,400 visits per year. Services that are provided through telehealth visits include (a) discussion of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) results, (b) discussion of laboratory results, (c) fracture follow-ups that were range of motion (ROM) checks, (d) follow-up after therapy, (e) avulsions or tearing away following sprains, and (f) post-operative carpal tunnel release.
- C 3.1.6. Superior Med Sports Medicine located at 10095 Brick Church Road, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Sports Medicine in Cambridge, Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients either access the park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Sports Medicine serves at least 50 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Sports Medicine at Cambridge, Ohio serves 3,700 visits per year. Services that are provided through telehealth visits include (a) discussion of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) results, (b) discussion of laboratory results, (c) fracture follow-ups that were range of motion (ROM) checks, (d) follow-up after therapy, (e) avulsions or tearing away following sprains.

- C 3.1.7. Superior Med Foot and Ankle located at 1230B Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Superior Med Sports Medicine in Cambridge, Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Sports Medicine serves at least 5 visits per year through telehealth services. Overall, the Superior Med Foot and Ankle at Cambridge, Ohio serves 4,100 visits per year. Services that are provided through telehealth visits include checking open wounds.
- C 3.1.8. Superior Med Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine located at 1420 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. Ohio offers Telehealth visits at patients' home or "Telepark" visit where patients park their vehicles at the clinic parking lot and are given an Ipad for a telehealth visit. The Telepark visits helps patients who do not have access to internet at home. The Superior Med Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine provides telehealth serves to at least 288 visits per year. Overall, the Superior Med Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine in Cambridge, Ohio serves 6,300 visits per year. Services that are provided through telehealth visits include (a) COVID-19 infection, (b) prevention of COVID-19 exposure, (c) fever, (d) cough, (e) congestion, (f) sore throat, (g) sinus infection, (h) depression, (i) diabetes, and (j) other conditions.
- C 3.1.9. Superior Med Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) located at 1210 Neal Drive, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. Telehealth visits include evaluation and management of patient's ears, nose and throat. There were 179 telehealth visits that were completed in 2020 and six visits in 2021. The ENT clinic was closed in March 2021.
- C 3.2. Medical Associates of Cambridge's Call Us First has a primary care doctor on call 24/7 who is available for phone consultation for urgent issues that occur after office hours or on weekends. The answering service calls the primary care office. The provider may see the patient during the same day to evaluate patient's symptoms. The Medical Associates of Cambridge telehealth service areas include Guernsey and Noble Counties (Medical Associates of Cambridge, n.d.).
- C 3.3. Mid-Ohio Behavioral Health offers telehealth services for appropriate behavioral health services for children, adolescents and adults (Mid-Ohio Behavioral Health, LLC, 2022). The Mid-Ohio Behavioral health telehealth service areas include Guernsey and Noble Counties.
- C 3.4. People to People offers HIPAA-compliant online counseling. Individualized care focuses on improvement of mental health and self-care such as (but not limited to): (a) self-monitoring, (b) distraction, (c) self-soothing, (d) grounding techniques, (e) sleep hygiene, (f) anger management, (g) expressive writing (People to People, 2021). The People to People telehealth service areas include Guernsey and Noble Counties.

- C 4. Healthcare facilities and community resources that address lack of higher education and employment opportunities in Guernsey County
 - C 4.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC), Superior Med and United Ambulance — SEORMC partners with various academic institutions to provide tuition reimbursements for employees who are interested to pursue further education.

C - 4.1.1. SEORMC's Partner Schools and Career Programs Offered —

- Belmont College offers undergraduate nursing and phlebotomy programs
- Belmont University offers occupational therapy program
- Central Ohio Technical College offers phlebotomy, undergraduate nursing, and ultrasound program
- Institute of Ultrasound Diagnostics offers ultrasound diagnostics program
- Kent State University offers undergraduate nursing program
- Lake Erie College of Osteopathic Medicine offers Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine
- Lincoln Memorial University offers Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine
- Marietta College offers physician assistant program
- Muskingum University offers undergraduate nursing program
- Ohio University offers dietetics, nursing, physical therapy, social work (Colleges of Health Sciences and Professions), doctor of osteopathic medicine (Heritage College of Osteopathic Medicine)
- The Ohio State University offers graduate level nursing (College of Nursing), occupational therapy programs (School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences)
- Rhodes State College offers respiratory care program
- University of Akron offers graduate and undergraduate social work, child life specialist, nutrition and dietetics coordinated program, speech language pathology, food and environmental nutrition, allied health sciences, counseling, sports science and wellness education programs
- University of South Dakota offers surgery specialization (Sanford School of Medicine)
- University of Mount Union offers physical therapy program
- Washburn University offers diagnostic medical sonography program
- Washington County Career Center offers phlebotomy program
- Washington State Community College offers respiratory therapy and physical therapy assistant programs
- Wheeling University offers physical therapy programs
- Wright State University offers surgical programs
- Zane State College offers health information management, medical assisting, medical laboratory, occupational therapy assistant, physical therapist assistant, radiologic technology, undergraduate nursing, social work assistant programs

- C 4.2. Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services implements the Comprehensive Case Management and Employment Program (CCMEP), which helps residents ages 14 to 24 who faces challenges in attaining self-sufficiency through job and education training. The program focuses on persons to finish high school, initiate a higher education program, obtain a stable job, keep your job and find better employment through advanced skills training (Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services, 2022)
 - **C 4.2.1.** Tutoring of high school students, skills training, completion of secondary school, and prevention of drop-outs
 - C 4.2.2. Support high school students, alternative schools or GED
 - C 4.2.3. Summer employment
 - C 4.2.4. Unpaid or paid on the job training
 - C 4.2.5. Leadership
 - C 4.2.6. Guidance and counseling
- C 4.3. Noble County Department of Job and Family Services provides Noble County residents with access to Ohio Means Jobs, and assistance for obtaining employment through guidance on education and skills development (Noble County, Ohio, 2019).
 - C 4.3.1. Income maintenance
 - C 4.3.2. Child support
 - C 4.3.3. Children and social services
 - C 4.3.4. Workforce development/Ohio Means Jobs

- C –5. Healthcare facilities and community resources that address lack of employment offering good pay and benefits in the County
 - C 5.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center employs 500 employees and serves as the largest employer in Guernsey County (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2019). SEORMC offers comprehensive benefits such as (but not limited to):
 - **C 5.1.1.** Medical insurance for employees and dependents, including health, vision and prescription coverage
 - **C 5.1.2.** Dental insurance for employees and dependents
 - C 5.1.3. Flexible Spending Account (FSA) plan
 - C 5.1.4. Life insurance
 - C 5.1.5. Paid vacation and holidays
 - **C 5.1.5.** Sick leave
 - **C 5.1.6**. Defined contribution and retirement plan
 - **C 5.1.7.** Education assistance
 - C 5.1.8. Associate assistance and recognition
 - C 5.1.9. Service awards
 - C 5.1.10. Associate health services, such as health fairs, wellness screenings, access to exercise equipment and onsite health nurse
 - C 5.1.11. Direct deposit
 - **C 5.1.12.** Credit union
 - C 5.1.13. Opportunities for internal transfers and/or promotions
 - C 5.1.14. YMCA corporate rate
 - C 5.1.15. Recruitment bonuses for those who recruit for difficult-to-fill positions
 - **C 5.1.16.** In-house discounts on health services, cafeteria, supplies, OTC pharmaceuticals and vaccines
 - C 5.1.17. Bereavement leave
 - **C 5.1.18.** Pay for Jury Duty
 - C 5.1.19. Supplemental insurance
 - **C 5.1.20.** Free parking
 - **C 5.2. Ohio Means Jobs Guernsey County —** provides tools for job seekers and employers. Tools for job seekers include (but not limited to) (Ohio Means Jobs, n.d.):
 - C 5.2.1. Creating a career profile
 - C 5.2.2. Building skills
 - C 5.2.3. Practicing interview skills
 - C 5.2.4. Continuing guidance
 - C 5.3. Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services helps residents of Guernsey County avail of activities that is offered by Ohio Means Jobs. The Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services also offers residents who are availing of benefits to participate in work participation and other activities. The work participation and activities Department help people with searching for jobs, job readiness, obtaining experience, training on developing job skills, completion of GED (General Educational Development) classes and attending College (Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services, n.d.).

- C 6. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses high housing costs -
 - **C 6.1. Noble Metropolitan Housing Authority** offers public housing and Section 8 housing choice voucher rental assistance to residents of Noble and Guernsey Counties based on income.
 - **C 6.2. Cambridge Metropolitan Housing Authority —** offers public housing and Section 8 housing choice voucher rental assistance to residents of Guernsey County
- C 7. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses neighborhood safety
 - C 7.1. Guernsey County Sheriff's Office aims to enforce the law, protect from crimes, and maintain order (Guernsey County Sheriff's Office, 2022).
 - C 7.2. Noble County Sheriff's Office aims to protect life, prevent crime, and reduce the fear of crime in Noble County. The Noble County Sheriff's Office consist of 41 employees that protect 404 square miles and 1,185 miles of roadways (Noble County Sheriff's Office, n.d.).
- C 8. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses traumatic experiences that contribute to poor health outcomes
 - C 8.1. Southeast Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) and Superior Med all healthcare related programs and services address patient's traumatic experiences.
 - C- 8.2. Allwell Behavioral Health Services Guernsey Counseling Center mental and behavioral health services address patient's traumatic experiences (Allwell Behavioral Health Choices, 2016-2022)
 - C 8.3. Allwell Behavioral Health Services Noble Counseling Center mental and behavioral health services address patient's traumatic experiences (Allwell Behavioral Health Choices, 2016-2022).
 - C 8.3. Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. considers traumatic experiences of patients when conducting assessments, counseling, case management and support groups (Guernsey Health Choices, 2022)
- C 9. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses poverty that contributes to poor health outcomes
 - C 9.1. Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services implements the Comprehensive Case Management and Employment Program (CCMEP), which helps residents ages 14 to 24 who faces challenges in attaining self-sufficiency through job and education training. The program focuses on persons to finish high school, initiate a higher education program, obtain a stable job, keep your job and find better employment through advanced skills training (Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services, 2022)
 - **C 9.1.1.** Tutoring of high school students, skills training, completion of secondary school, and prevention of drop-outs
 - C 9.1.2. Support high school students, alternative schools or GED
 - C 9.1.3. Summer employment
 - C 9.1.4. Unpaid or paid on the job training
 - C 9.1.5. Leadership
 - C 9.1.6. Guidance and counseling

- C 9.2. Noble County Department of Job and Family Services provides Noble County residents with access to Ohio Means Jobs, and assistance for obtaining employment through guidance on education and skills development (Noble County, Ohio, 2019).
 - C 9.2.1. Income maintenance
 - C 9.2.2. Child support
 - C 9.2.3. Children and social services
 - C 9.2.4. Workforce development/Ohio Means Jobs
- C 10. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses challenges accessing healthy, nutritious meals
 - C 10.1. Mid-Ohio Food Collective serves Guernsey and Noble Counties through food assistance and SNAP (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program). Residents have access to FreshTrak where residents could obtain a list of resources that provide food assistance in the neighborhood (Mid-Ohio Foodbank, 2018).
 - C 10.2. Women, Infants and Children (WIC) located in the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department and Noble County Health Department. WIC is funded by the United States Department of Agriculture. WIC offers nutrition education, breastfeeding support, access to nutrient-rich foods, and referrals to community agencies. WIC aims to promote access to healthy nutrition and referrals to immunization and other health screenings during growth and development (Guernsey County, 2022; Noble County Health Department, n.d.).
 - C 10.3. Various food pantries in Guernsey County (Mid-Ohio Foodbank, 2018)
 - C 10.3.1. Salvation Army Cambridge located at 221 Dewey Ave. Cambridge, OH. 43725
 - C 10.3.2. Living Water Food Pantry located at 287 Fair Street Quaker City, OH 43773
 - C 10.3.3. Byesville Assembly of God located at 102 South 7th Street Byesville, OH 43723
 - C 10.3.4. Grace Pantry at Center United Methodist Church located at 11026 Cadiz Rd Cambridge, OH 43725
 - C 10.3.5. Grace Pantry located at 1101 Steubenville Ave. Cambridge, OH 43725
 - C 10.3.6. Main Ave United Methodist Church Food Pantry located at 223 E Main Ave. Byesville, OH 43723
 - C 10.3.7. Feed My People located at 1101 Steubenville Avenue Cambridge, 43725
 - C 10.3.8. Guernsey Senior Nutrition Commodity Supplemental Food Program located at 1022 Carlisle Ave. Cambridge, OH 43725
 - C 10.3.9. Guernsey County Senior Center located at 1022 Carlisle Ave. Cambridge, OH 43725

C - 11. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses lack of healthy activities in the County

- C 11.1. Southeast Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) actively involved in Noble County Wellness Coalition which organizes walks, runs, and other physical activities for Noble County residents.
- C 11.2. Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center provides various programs and services such as (but not limited to) personal training, childcare, yoga, group exercise classes, weight management, youth sports, and swim lessons (Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center, 2022).
- C 11.3. Noble County Family YMCA provides various healthy activities such as aquatics, youth sports and activities, heathy living, food program (Noble County Family YMCA, 2022).

C - 12. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses obesity

- C 12.1. Southeast Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) actively involved in Noble County Wellness Coalition which organizes walks, runs, and other physical activities for Noble County residents.
- C 12.2. Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center provides various programs and services such as (but not limited to) personal training, childcare, yoga, group exercise classes, weight management, youth sports, and swim lessons (Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center, 2022).
- C 12.3. Noble County Family YMCA provides various healthy activities such as aquatics, youth sports and activities, heathy living, food program (Noble County Family YMCA, 2022).

C - 13. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses binge drinking

- C –13.1. Allwell Behavioral Health Services offers adult, children and teen, employer and provider services related to addiction (including alcohol) and mental health disorders (Allwell Behavioral Health Services (2016-2022).
- **C 13.2. Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions —** offers alcohol detoxification and recovery housing services (Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions, 2022).
- C 13.3. Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. offers alcohol and drug use prevention interventions, outpatient counseling, support groups, case management (Guernsey Health Choices, Inc, 2022)

C -14. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses smoking/tobacco use

- C 14.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) Superior Med's Family Medicine and Pulmonology clinics, and the SEORMC Emergency Department and hospital assesses smoking/tobacco use of all patients seen. Information on smoking cessation and community resources that help with quitting are being provided to patients.
- C 14.2. Muskingum Valley Health Center offers behavioral health and addiction services and school health programs that discusses the importance of quitting smoking and tobacco use.

C - 15. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses drug addiction

- C –15.1. Allwell Behavioral Health Services offers adult, children and teen, employer and provider services related to addiction (including alcohol) and mental health disorders (Allwell Behavioral Health Services (2016-2022).
- **C 15.2. Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions —** offers alcohol detoxification and recovery housing services (Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions, 2022).
- C 15.3. Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. offers alcohol and drug use prevention interventions, outpatient counseling, support groups, case management (Guernsey Health Choices, Inc, 2022)

C – 16. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses chlamydia (sexually transmitted disease), especially among young adults

- C 16.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) SEORMC and Superior Med providers assesses patients for chlamydia and other sexually transmitted diseases. Evidence-based treatment and education are provided to patients.
- **C 16.2. Muskingum Valley Health Center —** offers adult health, women's health, urgent care, telehealth, pharmacy, school health and mobile health care.
- C 16.3. Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department offers women's health and men's health services that offers testing for sexually transmitted infections, and referral for treatments. The Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department participates in sexually transmitted infection prevention program in partnership with the Ohio Department of Health (Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, n.d.).
- **C 16.4. Noble County Health Department —** offers testing for sexually transmitted infections. The Noble County Health Department participates in sexually transmitted infection prevention program in partnership with the Ohio Department of Health (Noble County Health Department, n.d.).

C - 17. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses depression (mental health)

- C 17.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) partners with Superior Med in providing assessment, diagnosis, treatment and referral to patients with depression or anxiety.
- C 17.2. Mental Health and Recovery Services Board (MHRSB) serves Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble and Perry Counties (Mental Health and Recovery Services Board, 2021).
 - **C 17.2.1.** MHRSB provides funding to partner agencies so they could continue the services to address mental health and addiction in the jurisdiction area.
 - **C 17.2.2.** MHRSB provides community education on Mental Health First Aid training that provides the skills for persons to assist others experiencing a mental health crisis. These trainings promote recovery and resiliency.
 - C 17.2.3. MHRSB provides various trainings such as (but not limited to): (a) "Triple P (Positive Parenting Program", "Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing" (EMDR), Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS), "Peer Recovery Supporter Training", "Understanding Addiction through a Child's Eyes"
 - **C 17.2.4.** MHRSB collaborates with schools in providing access to PAX Behavior Game" that fosters peace, productivity, health and happiness.

- **C 17.2.5.** MHRSB partners with health departments in conducting the program Smart Choices...Strong Families" which empowers women to become successful mothers through nurse support and parenting guidance.
- C 17.2.6. MHRSB provides access to Early Childhood Mental Health (ECMH) which promotes children wellbeing from birth to six years and their families.
- C 17.2.7. MHRSB collaborates with the criminal justice system through the following (a) Crisis Intervention Team Academy, (b) in-jail liaison programs, (c) criminal justice collaborations.
- C 17.2.8. MHRSB implements the Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) provides support to public safety agencies staff who had a critical incident exposure.

C - 18. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses anxiety (mental health)

- C 18.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) partners with Superior Med in providing assessment, diagnosis, treatment and referral to patients with depression or anxiety.
- C 18.2. Mental Health and Recovery Services Board (MHRSB) serves Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble and Perry Counties (Mental Health and Recovery Services Board, 2021).
 - **C 18.2.1.** MHRSB provides funding to partner agencies so they could continue the services to address mental health and addiction in the jurisdiction area.
 - C 18.2.2. MHRSB provides community education on Mental Health First Aid training that provides the skills for persons to assist others experiencing a mental health crisis. These trainings promote recovery and resiliency.
 - C 18.2.3. MHRSB provides various trainings such as (but not limited to): (a) "Triple P (Positive Parenting Program", "Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing" (EMDR), Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS), "Peer Recovery Supporter Training", "Understanding Addiction through a Child's Eyes"
 - **C 18.2.4.** MHRSB collaborates with schools in providing access to PAX Behavior Game" that fosters peace, productivity, health and happiness.
 - **C 18.2.5.** MHRSB partners with health departments in conducting the program Smart Choices...Strong Families" which empowers women to become successful mothers through nurse support and parenting guidance.
 - C 18.2.6. MHRSB provides access to Early Childhood Mental Health (ECMH) which promotes children wellbeing from birth to six years and their families.
 - **C 18.2.7.** MHRSB collaborates with the criminal justice system through the following (a) Crisis Intervention Team Academy, (b) in-jail liaison programs, (c) criminal justice collaborations.
 - C 18.2.8. MHRSB implements the Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) provides support to public safety agencies staff who had a critical incident exposure.

C - 19. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses Alzheimer's Disease/Dementia

- C 19.1. Area Agency on Aging, Region 9 offers Healthy U learning opportunities that promotes health of the mind, body and spirit. Managing chronic conditions such as diabetes, anxiety and depression and improving nutrition and physical activity delays onset of Alzheimer's Disease or dementia (Area Agency on Aging, Region 9, Inc., 2022). Topics of the Healthy U training helps the participant with the following:
 - **C 19.1.1.** Managing stress, fatigue, frustration, pain and depression.
 - C 19.1.2. Role of active living and physical activity in becoming strong, flexible and resilience
 - C 19.1.3. Medication safety
 - C 19.1.4. Effective communication with doctors and providers, friends and family
 - C 19.1.5. Role of healthy nutrition
 - C 19.1.6. Learning and evaluating new treatments
 - **C 19.1.7.** Setting personal health goals that are specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely.
- C 19.2. Alzheimer's Association (Central Ohio, Greater East Ohio Chapter promotes education and awareness of Alzheimer's Disease and dementia, referrals of people to community resources, and research
- C 19.3. Facilities serving patients with dementia or Alzheimer's Disease includes Cambridge Place, Greystone Health and Rehab of Cambridge, Cambridge Health and Rehabilitation Center, Cardinal Place (Senior Living Facilities, 2022).
- C 20. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses heart disease caused by smoking, poor diet, poor exercise, and high blood pressure
 - **C 20.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center/OhioHealth** —offers heart and vascular services to residents of Guernsey and Noble Counties.
 - **C 20.2.** Superior Med Primary Care offers high quality primary care in Guernsey and Noble Counties
 - **C 20.3.** Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department include programs and services such as nursing services, women's health, men's health, and Women, Infants and Children (WIC).(Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
 - **C 20.4. Noble County Health Department** include programs and services such as women's health, men's health, physical exam and Women, Infants and Children (WIC).

- C 21. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses lung/bronchus cancer caused by smoking and other factors
 - C 21.1. The John W. and Edna McManus Shepard Cancer Center The cancer treatment program here at Southeastern Med is truly unique for a community hospital, offering patients everything from precautionary cancer screenings to surgery, radiation oncology, and medical oncology—including chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and hormonal therapy (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2022).
 - C 21.2. Guernsey County Cancer Society provides help to local cancer patients. Some of the programs include (but not limited to): (a) financial assistance for transportation to doctors and treatment centers, (b) prescription assistance not covered by health insurance, (c) treatment and home care expenses not covered by health insurance, (d) access to wigs, mastectomy, supplies and prosthesis for lymphedema, and (e) access to nutritional supplies (Guernsey County Cancer Society, Inc., 2022).
- C-22. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses maternal smoking while pregnant
 - C 22.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center's Maternity Care offers family-centered care before, during and after the delivery of the baby. Part of the education provided during the interconceptional period includes risks of maternal smoking on the health of the mother and the baby. Dr. Paul Wright and Dr. Joseph Binkiewicz provide high quality obstetrics and gynecology care. SEORMC is a Level 1 Perinatal Center (Southeastern Med Hospital, 2022).
 - C 22.2. Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department
 - C 22.2.1. Women's Health Services provides counseling and referrals for tobacco cessation in addition to other women's health care services such as (but not limited to) pap and pelvic tests, clinical breast exam, mammograms, and routine laboratory work (Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2022).
 - C 22.2.2. Healthy Moms, Healthy Babies provides education, referral, and support to mothers with substance use disorders (Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2022).
 - C 22.2.3. Women, Infants and Children (WIC) funded by the United States Department of Agriculture. WIC offers education on nutrition, support on breastfeeding, access to healthy foods, and referrals to community agencies. WIC aims to promote the diet of daily food requirements (Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2022).
 - C 22.3. Noble County Health Department
 - C 22.3.1. Women's Health Services offers exams and screenings such as (but not limited to): (a) Pap and pelvic exam, (b) clinical breast exams, (c) Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) screening, (d) birth control, (e) creation of reproductive life plans, (f) health education (including smoking cessation), (g) community referrals, (h) prevention of sexually transmitted infections, and (i) reproductive health services.
 - C 22.3.2. Women, Infants and Children a nutrition program that is funded by the United States Department of Agriculture. It serves pregnant or postpartum women, married and single parents. Services include (a) nutrition education and support, (b) breastfeeding, (c) access to healthy foods, (d) access to formula milk, (e) referrals, (f) vaccinations, and (g) referrals to Help Me Grow.

- C-23. Healthcare facilities and community resources that addresses preterm births (caused by low-birth-weight infants)
 - C 23.1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)'s Obstetrics and Gynecology women's health programs and services located at 1330 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. Physicians include (a) Dr. Robert Aepli, MD, (b) Dr. Gabriel Rosanwo, MD, (c) Dr. Dianne Schubeck, MD, (d) Dr. Joseph Binkiewicz, MD, and (e) Dr. Paul Wright, MD.
 - **C– 23.2. Genesis Healthcare System (2022)** includes maternity services, breast imaging systems, bone health services, Genesis Women's Boutique, pediatric hospital care, and education and support (Genesis Healthcare System, 2022).

D. How Data was Obtained

- D 1. The definition of the community served by SEORMC was based on the percentage of patients served who resided in Guernsey and Noble Counties during calendar year 2021, based on review and analysis of electronic medical records. See Section A.
- D 2. The demographic data of Guernsey and Noble County's population was obtained from the Ohio Department of Development (n.d.). See Section B.
- D 3. Pertinent health data from Ohio's 2019 Community Health Assessment and 2020-2022 State Health Improvement Plan was summarized (Ohio Department of Health, n.d.). See Appendix A.
- **D 4.** Pertinent health and social determinants of health data of Guernsey and Noble County residents were summarized from the following:
 - D 4.1. 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Assessment (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020). See Appendix B.
 - D 4.2. 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020). See Appendix B.
 - **D 4.3.** 2022 Noble County Community Health Assessment (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio, 2022). **See Appendix B.**
 - D 4.4. 2022 County Health Rankings (University of Wisconsin and Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2022). See Appendix B.

No information gaps that would limit the ability to assess the community's health needs were identified.

E. Significant Health Needs of the Community

The Southeast Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) utilized the significant health needs that were identified in the Guernsey and Noble County Community Health Assessment reports:

- 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Assessment (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020)
- 2020 Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan (Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2020)
- 2021 Noble County Community Health Assessment (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council
 of Northwest Ohio, 2022)

The table below summarizes the SEORMC priority needs, which combined the significant health needs that were identified from the Guernsey and Noble County Community Health Assessment reports.

Priority Need/Priority Factor	SEORMC Priority/Significant Health Needs	Cambridge- Guernsey Health Department Priority Needs (Guernsey County)	Noble County Health Department Priority Needs (Noble County)	Align with the State Health Improvement Plan?
Priority Need	Drug addiction and substance use	Drug addiction	Substance Use	Yes
Priority Need	Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease, diabetes, high cholesterol, high blood pressure)	Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease)	Chronic disease (diabetes, heart disease risk factors such as high cholesterol, high blood pressure)	Yes
Priority Need	Mental health (anxiety and depression)	Mental health (depression)	Mental health (anxiety and depression)	Yes
Priority Factor	Community conditions (Including poverty)	Poverty	Not applicable	Yes

F. Primary, Chronic Disease and Other Health Needs of Uninsured, Low-Income and Minority Populations

The primary and chronic disease needs and other health issues of uninsured, low-income and minority populations and the latest data for each need are summarized in Appendices A and B.

G. Process for Identifying and Prioritizing Community Health Needs

G - 1. Identification of Priority Health Needs in Guernsey County

Date	Activity	Outcome
June 2020	The Guernsey County Community Health Assessment was completed and made publicly available in https://www.guernseycountyhealthdepartment.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Guernsey-County-2020-Report.pdf	The community stakeholders and the public had access to the completed Community Health Assessment
September 2019	The Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department hired Illuminology and The Ohio State University College of Public Health Center for Public Health Practice to develop a regional Community Health Improvement Plan	Illuminology and The Ohio State University Center for Public Health Practice in collaboration with the Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department developed an online survey to seek inputs from community members in identifying Guernsey County's priority health needs.
August 13, 2019	Community meeting (virtual by Zoom) was organized by the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department to review the Community Health Assessment and identify important health issues affecting Guernsey County. Participants were from social service and community organizations (see Appendix C).	23 important health issues affecting Guernsey County were identified during large and small group discussions.
	The criteria for the identification and prioritization of health needs include:	
	Equity — degree by which groups are affected by a health issue	
	2. Size — number of people affected	
	3. Seriousness — degree by which the health issue leads to disability, death or poor quality of life	
	Feasibility — Ability to address the health issue based on existing resources	
	Severity potential complication if the issue is not acted upon.	
	6. Trends health issue gets better or worse over time	
	7. Intervention availability of effective and evidence- based public health strategies available	
	Value significance of the health issue to the community	
	Social Determinant/Root Cause determination whether the health needs are root causes or affected by social determinants of health	

Continuation of G – 1. Identification of Priority Health Needs in Guernsey County

Date	Activity	Outcome
August 19, 2020	The 23 health issues were sent to community members through an online survey. The participants were asked to identify top five health issues after considering social determinants of health and health inequities.	Once the survey responses were received, Illuminology and The Ohio State University College of Public Health Center for Public Health Practice summarized the survey responses and identified three priority health needs. Priority Need 1: Drug addiction Priority Need 2: Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease) Priority Need 3: Mental health (depression) Crosscutting Factor: Poverty
July 2021	The Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) report was completed and made publicly available in https://odh.ohio.gov/static/population-health/cambridgeguernseycountyhealthchaip2021.pdf	The community stakeholders and the public have access to the Guernsey County CHIP.

On August 13, 2020, the large and small group discussions that were held virtually via Zoom led to the identification of 23 important health issues. The list below does not represent ranking.

- 1. Lack of physical health care specialists
- 2. Lack of mental healthcare specialists (chemical dependency counselors, psychiatrists, and psychologists)
- 3. Lack of telehealth for those with no wifi, especially the elderly and those in rural areas
- 4. Lack of higher education/employment opportunities in Guernsey County
- 5. Lack of employment offering good pay and benefits in Guernsey County
- 6. Housing costs are high compared to annual income in Guernsey County
- 7. Neighborhoods seem less safe and supportive
- 8. Traumatic experiences contribute to poor health outcomes
- 9. Poverty contributes to poor health outcomes
- 10. Challenges accessing healthy, nutritious foods
- 11. Lack of healthy activities in Guernsey County
- 12. Obesity

- 13. Binge drinking
- 14. Smoking/tobacco use
- 15. Drug addiction
- 16. Chlamydia especially among young adults
- 17. Depression (mental health)
- 18. Anxiety (mental health)
- 19. Alzheimer's Disease/Dementia
- 20. Heart disease (caused by smoking, poor diet and exercise, high blood pressure)
- 21. Lung/bronchus cancer caused by smoking and other factors
- 22. Maternal smoking while pregnant
- 23. Preterm births caused by low birth weight infants, and other factors

As explained in Section G-1, community stakeholders identified the priority health needs by identifying top five health issues. The contractors, Illuminology and The Ohio State University Center for Public Health Practice, analyzed the survey results and presented their findings with three priority health needs and one priority crosscutting factor.

Priority Need 1: Drug addiction

Priority Need 2: Chronic disease (obesity, heart disease)

Priority Need 3: Mental health (depression)

Crosscutting Factor: Poverty

G - 2. Identification of Priority Health Needs in Noble County

Date	Activity	Outcome
December 2020 to May 2021	The Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio (HCNO) in collaboration with the Noble County Health Department and the Southeast Ohio Health Improvement Collaborative led the conduct of the Noble County Health Assessment Survey by mailing the survey instrument to 2,000 adults age 19 years and above.	192 persons completed the Noble County Health Assessment Survey.
June to August 2021	The Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio (HCNO) in collaboration with the Noble County Health Department summarized the findings from the survey.	The key findings are summarized in Appendix B, sections B-17 to B-21.
March 2022	The Noble County Health Department, led by Shawn Ray, Health Commissioner publicly released the Noble County Community Health Assessment. The document is publicly available in https://noblecohd.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/2022-Noble-County-CHA-Report.pdf [noblecohd.org]	The community stakeholders and the public had access to the completed Community Health Assessment

Based from the Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) document sent by Noble County Health Department to Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC), action plans will be developed to address the following priority health needs:

Priority 1: Substance Use

Priority 2: Chronic disease (diabetes, heart disease risk factors such as high cholesterol, high blood pressure)

Priority 3: Mental health (anxiety and depression)

G – 3. SEORMC's Email Communication to Community Stakeholders

On July 19, 2022, the Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) leaders Wendy Elliott (President), Gina Woods (Chief Nursing Officer) and Hannah Bingham sent an email communication to various community stakeholders, including those that serves people who are uninsured, low-income, or from minority populations in Guernsey and Noble Counties to signify that SEORMC will be utilizing the priority health needs that were identified from the Guernsey and Noble Counties' Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan.

Appendix C summarizes these community stakeholders, their representatives, skills and knowledge in public health, description of persons served by the organization, inputs time frame of inputs, mission of the organization, website, and examples of programs and services. The community stakeholders who provided approval to SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) are indicated in Appendix C, Inputs subsection.

H. Process for Consulting with Persons Representing the Community's Interests and Input Provided

H—1. Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)

As mentioned in Section G, the Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) utilized the priority health needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties' Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan.

Appendix C shows the following:

- (a) Organizations and their representatives who participated in the 2020 Guernsey County Community Heath Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
- (b) Organizations and their representatives who participated in the 2021 Noble County Community Health Assessment
- (c) Organizations and their representatives who participated in the 2019 Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)

For each community stakeholder listed in Appendix C, SEORMC provided the following information:

- (a) Name of organization
- (b) Name(s) of representatives
- (c) Skills and knowledge in public health
- (d) Description of medically underserved, low-income or minorities served by the organization
- (e) Description of inputs
- (f) Timeframe of inputs
- (g) Website
- (h) Mission of organization
- (i) Examples of programs and services

H — 2. SEORMC Consultation with Epstein Becker and Green

The Southeastern Ohio regional Medical Center consulted with James (Jim) G. Petrie, member of Epstein, Becker and Green, a national law firm that specializes in healthcare, life sciences and workforce management solutions (Epstein Becker and Green, P.C., 2022).

I. Impact of Actions Taken to Address the Significant Health Needs Identified in the Hospital Facility's 2019 Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)

Appendix D summarizes the Calendar Year 2020 and 2021 impacts of Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center's strategies that addressed the priority health needs in the 2019 board-approved community health needs assessment and implementation strategy (Southeastern Med, 2019. In 2019, the priority health needs that were identified include (a) mental health and addiction, (b) chronic disease, and (c) access to care.

References

American College of Radiology. (2021). About Us: The gold standard in imaging accreditation. Retrieved November 30,2021 from https://www.acraccreditation.org/

Allwell Behavioral Health Services. (2016-2022). Services. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://allwell.org/services/

Allwell Behavioral Health Services. (2016-2022). Services. Retrieved March 14, 2022, from https://allwell.org/ Area Agency on Aging, Region 9. (2022). Services. Programs. Retrieved March 14, 2022, https://aaa9.org/ Caldwell First Church of the Nazarene. (2013-2022). Get involved. Retrieved July 30, 2022, from https://www.caldwellnaz.org/about-us/meet-the-staff

Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce. (2021). About us. Retrieved July 28,2022, from <u>Chamber Info – Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce (cambridgeohiochamber.com)</u>

Cambridge City Schools. (2022). Home. Retrieved March 28, 2022, from

https://www.cambridgecityschools.org/Default.aspx

Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department. (2022). Health services. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.guernseycountyhealthdepartment.org/

Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department. Health services. Women, Infants and Children (WIC). Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.guernseycountyhealthdepartment.org/guernsey-county-wic-

program/#:~:text=Guernsey%20County%20WIC%20Program%20%E2%80%93%20Health%20Department&text=The%20Women%2C%20Infants%2C%20and%20Children,health%20and%20human%20service%20agencies.

CareSource. (2019). Additional services. Transportation. Retrieved September 8, 2019, from https://www.caresource.com/oh/plans/medicaid/benefits-services/additional-services/

Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions. (2022). Services, Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.crbhs.org/services

City of Cambridge. (2021). City Government. Retrieved March 28, 2022, from https://cambridgeoh.org/# East Guernsey Local Schools. (2022). About us. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://eguernsey.k12.oh.us/about-us/

Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. (2022). About us. Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://www.ebglaw.com/about-us/overview/

Genesis Healthcare System. (2022). Services. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.genesishcs.org/services-search

GMN Tri-County CAC. (2022). About. Retrieved April 5, 2022, from https://gmntrico.org/ Guernsey Area Family YMCA. (2022). Who we are. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.cambridgeymcaoh.com/

Guernsey County Board of Developmental Disabilities. (n.d.) Home. Retrieved March 28, 2022, from https://guernseycountycdc.com/

Guernsey County Cancer Society, Inc. (2022). About us. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://guernseycountycancersociety.org/about-us/

Guernsey County Children Services. (2022). Services. Retrieved July 28, 2022, Guernsey County Children Services – Safety, Protection, and Permanency (guernseycountycs.org)

Guernsey County Community Development Corporation. (2018). About Us. Retrieved March 28, 2022, from https://guernseycountycdc.com/

Guernsey County Community Development Corporation. (n.d.). About us. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://guernseycountycdc.com/about-our-agency/

Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services. (2022). About us. Retrieved March 14,2022, from http://www.guernseycountyjfs.org/AboutUs.aspx

Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services. (2022). Comprehensive Case Management and Employment Program. Retrieved June 7, 2022, from https://www.guernseycountyjfs.org/CCMEP.aspx
Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services. (2022). Public assistance. Retrieved March 14, 2023

Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services. (2022). Public assistance. Retrieved March 14, 2022, from http://www.guernseycountvjfs.org/PublicAssistance.aspx

Guernsey County Farm Bureau.(n.d.). About. Retrieved March 31, 2022, from https://ofbf.org/about/

Guernsey County Government. (2022). The Guernsey County Commissioners. Retrieved March 28, 2022, from https://guernseycounty.org/commissioners/

Guernsey County Health Choices. (2022). About Us. Retrieved March 31, 2022, from https://guernseyhealthchoices.org/services-new/

Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department. (2022). Welcome to the Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department. Retrieved March 31, 2022, from https://www.guernseycountyhealthdepartment.org/

Guernsey County Juvenile Court. (2022). Juvenile Court. Retrieved April 1, 2022, from https://quernseycounty.org/juvenile-court/

Guernsey County Probate/Juvenile Court and Juvenile Probation. (2022). 2022 Annual report. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://guernseycounty.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Annual-Report-2022.pdf

Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center. (n.d.). Services. Retrieved March 14,2022, from

http://www.guernseysenior.org/transportation.html

Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center. (n.d.). Welcome to your senior center. Retrieved March 14, 2022, from http://www.guernseysenior.org/

Guernsey County Sheriff. (2022). Home. Retrieved on March 31, 2022, from https://www.guernseysheriff.com/ Guernsey County Sheriff's Office. (2022). Guernsey County Sheriff's Office. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.guernseysheriff.com/

Guernsey County. (2022). Home. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://guernseycounty.org/

Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. (2022). Services. Retrieved July 17, 2022, from

https://guernseyhealthchoices.org/services-new/

Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. (2022). Services. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://guernseyhealthchoices.org/services/

Guernsey Health Choices. (2022). Services. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

https://guernseyhealthchoices.org/services-new/

Health Policy Institute of Ohio and Ohio Department of Health. (2020, April). SHIP. State Health Improvement Plan. Ohio 2020-2022. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://odh.ohio.gov/static/SHIP/2020-2022/2020-2022-SHIP.pdf

Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department. (2020, June). Guernsey County Community Health Assessment. June 2020. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from

 $\underline{\text{https://www.guernsey.county/healthdepartment.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Guernsey-County-2020-Report.pdf}\\$

Illuminology, The Ohio State University, and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department. (2021, July). Guernsey

County Community Health Improvement Plan. July 2021. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from

https://odh.ohio.gov/static/population-health/cambridgeguernseycountyhealthchaip2021.pdf

Lifeline of Ohio. (2021). All about us. Retrieved on November 23, 2021 from https://lifelineofohio.org/about/

Medical Associates of Cambridge. (2022). Services. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.medicalassociatescare.com/

Mental Health and Recovery Services Board. (2019). About. Retrieved on April 1, 2022, from https://www.mhrs.org/about

Mental Health and Recovery Services Board. (2021). 2021 Annual report to the community. Retrieved July 21, 2022 from https://www.mhrs.org/_files/ugd/5ff86c_8df6ab389bcb42e4847a07b3f0272e6d.pdf

Mid-Ohio Behavioral Health. (2022). Telehealth. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://midohiobh.com/telehealth/ Mid-Ohio Foodbank. (2018). Do you need food? How to connect with Food Assistance in your county. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://eadn-wc04-878468.nxedge.io/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/GUERNSEY-CO-AMT-06282022.pdf

Muskingum Behavioral Health. (2022). Services. Retrieved May 23, 2022 from https://www.muskingumbehavioralhealth.com/Services/

Muskingum Mental Health Recovery Services Board. (2019). Get involved. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://www.mhrs.org/providers

Muskingum Valley Health Centers. (2022). Patient services. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.mvhccares.org/services

Noble County Board of Developmental Disabilities. (2022). Home. Retrieved on April 5, 2022, from https://www.ncbdd.org/

Noble County Family and Children First Council. (2011). Initiatives. Retrieved on April 6, 2022, from https://www.fcf.ohio.gov/Initiatives

Noble County Family Violence Council. (n.d.). Yellowplace. Retrieved on April 6, 2022, from https://yellow.place/en/the-noble-family-violence-council-inc-caldwell-usa

Noble County Family YMCA. (2022). Programs. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.noblecoymca.org/

Noble County Health Department (n.d.). About us. Retrieved March 17, 2022, from https://noblecohd.org/about-us/

Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio. (2022, March). Noble County

Community Health Assessment. Examining the health of Noble County. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from

Noble County Health Department. (n.d.). Department programs. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from

https://noblecohd.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/2022-Noble-County-CHA-Report.pdf [noblecohd.org]

Noble County Health Department. (n.d.). Ohio WIC (Women, Infants and Children). Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://noblecohd.org/program-services-2/wic/

Noble County Ohio Wellness Coalition. (2022). Home. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.facebook.com/NobleWellnessCoalition/

Noble County Sheriff's Office. (n.d.). Noble County Sheriff's Office. Sheriff Jackson Mackie. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://noblesheriff.org/

Noble County Veterans Service Commission Office. (n.d.) About Us. Retrieved on April 5, 2022, from https://noblecountyveteransservice.com/

Noble County, Ohio (2019). The Noble County Commissioners. Retrieved March 14, 2022, from https://noblecountyohio.gov/commissioners/

Noble County, Ohio. (2019). Department of Job and Family Services. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://noblecountyohio.gov/noble-county-department-of-job-family-services%ef%bb%bf/

Ohio Department of Development. (n.d.). Ohio County Profiles. 2021 Edition. Guernsey County. Retrieved on April 6, 2022, from C1031.pdf (ohio.gov)

Ohio Department of Health. (2019, May 1). State Health Assessment and State Health Improvement Plan.

Retrieved September 9, 2019, from https://odh.ohio.gov/wps/portal/gov/odh/about-us/sha-ship

Ohio Department of Health. (2021a). Guernsey County Cancer Profile. Retrieved August 2, 2022, from https://odh.ohio.gov/wps/wcm/connect/gov/35f7271b-bb3d-482d-8c03-

e854538be67c/Guernsey+County+Cancer+Profile+2021.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CONVERT_TO=url&CACHEID=R OOTWORKSPACE.Z18_M1HGGIK0N0JO00QO9DDDDM3000-35f7271b-bb3d-482d-8c03-e854538be67cnMppE-5

Ohio Department of Health. (2021b). Noble County Cancer Profile. Retrieved August 2, 2022, from https://odh.ohio.gov/wps/wcm/connect/gov/098d0b79-4136-4975-a26e-

220e6fa598a1/Noble+County+Cancer+Profile+2021.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CONVERT_TO=url&CACHEID=ROOT WORKSPACE.Z18 M1HGGIK0N0JO00QO9DDDDM3000-098d0b79-4136-4975-a26e-220e6fa598a1-nMptmfX

Ohio Department of Health. (2022, March). Ohio Annual Cancer Report 2022. Summary of cancer incidence and mortality data, stage at diagnosis, survival, and trends. Retrieved August 2, 2022, from

https://odh.ohio.gov/wps/wcm/connect/gov/72483153-dbe8-47fe-b32e-

bff8f1e50732/Ohio+Annual+Cancer+Report+2022.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CONVERT_TO=url&CACHEID=ROOTW ORKSPACE.Z18 M1HGGIK0N0JO00QO9DDDDM3000-72483153-dbe8-47fe-b32e-bff8f1e50732-o5yrvwK

Ohio Department of Health. (n.d.). State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP). Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://odh.ohio.gov/about-us/sha-ship

Ohio Early Intervention (n.d.) Mission and key principles. Retrieved March 28, 2022. from

https://ohioearlyintervention.org/mission-and-key-principles

Ohio Farm Bureau. (n.d.). Guernsey County. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from

https://ofbf.org/community/counties/guernsey/

Ohio Hills Health Centers. (2022). About. Retrieved August 6, 2022, from

https://www.ohiohillshealthcenters.com/about

Ohio Means Jobs. (n.d.). Retrieved June 15, 2022, from https://ohiomeansjobs.ohio.gov/job-seekers/build-your-career

OhioHealth. (2015-2022). OhioHealth in the community. Retrieved March 17, 2022, from https://www.ohiohealth.com/about-us

People to People. (2021). Services. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from peopletopeopleohio.com/services

People to People. (2021). Therapy services. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from

https://peopletopeopleohio.com/therapy-services/

Rolling Hills Local School District. (2022). About RHLSD. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://rollinghills.k12.oh.us/about/

Rolling Hills School District. (2022). About. Retrieved on April 1, 2022, from

https://rollinghills.k12.oh.us/about/mission-statement/

Senior Living Facilities. (2022). Alzheimer's care facilities in Cambridge, Ohio. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.seniorlivingfacilities.net/alzheimers-care/ohio/cambridge.html

Southeastern Med Hospital. (2019). Benefits. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://seormc.org/careers/benefits/

Southeastern Med Hospital. (2019). Services. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://seormc.org/services/

Southeastern Med Hospital. (2022). Cancer services. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from

https://seormc.org/services/cancer-treatment-services/

Southeastern Med Hospital. (2022). Maternity care. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://seormc.org/services/maternity-care/

Southeastern Med. (2019). Pain management. Retrieved December 9, 2021, from

https://seormc.org/services/pain-management/

The Ohio State University. (2019). OSU Extension. Noble County. Retrieve March 17, 2022, from https://noble.osu.edu/about

U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute (2022). U.S. Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on 2021 submission data (1999-2019). Retrieved August 2, 2022, from https://gis.cdc.gov/Cancer/USCS/#/AtAGlance

United Healthcare Services, Inc. (2019). UnitedHealthcare Community Plan. Benefits and features. Rides and other help. Retrieved September 8, 2019, from https://www.uhccommunityplan.com/oh/medicaid/community-plan Village of Byesville Government. (n.d.). Mayor. Retrieved on April 1, 2022, from http://byesvilleoh.gov/welcome/government/mayor/

YMCA. (2023). Home. Retrieved on April 1, 2022, from https://www.cambridgeymcaoh.com/
Your Radio Place. (2022). Home. Retrieved on July 28, 2022 from https://yourradioplace.com/
Zip-Codes. (2003-2022). Guernsey County. Retrieved on April 7, 2022, from https://www.zip-codes.com/county/oh-guernsey.asp

Zip-Codes. (2003-2022). Noble County. Retrieved on April 7, 2022, from https://www.zip-codes.com/county/oh-noble.asp

Appendix A. Data and Information from the 2019 State Health Assessment

- Appendix A 1. Summary of Data and Information from the State Health Assessment, Ohio 2019 (Health Policy Institute of Ohio and Ohio Department of Health, 2019)
 - Appendix A 1.1. Ohioans' overall wellbeing declined. Premature death, life expectancy and overall health worsened. The leading causes of premature death in 2017 were unintentional injuries (including drug overdose), cancer and heart disease. Ohio's life expectancy dropped from 77.6 years in 2010 to 76.5 years in 2017. Increase in infant deaths, blood pressure, latestage cancer diagnosis was observed. Black or African Americans life expectancy in 2017 was 72.8 years compared to 77 among Whites.
 - **Appendix A 1.2.** Ohioans' lack opportunities to reach full health potential. Ohioans who are black or African American, with low income, with disabilities or live in Appalachian counties have worse health outcomes compared to overall Ohio population.
 - **Appendix A 1.3.** Health promotion activities need to be addressed. Interventions need to focus on the following: (i) physical activity, (ii) tobacco use, (iii) access to dental care, (iv) access to mental health, (v) income disparities, (vi) unemployment, (vii) adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), (viii) access to transportation, (ix) lead poisoning and (x) racism.
 - Appendix A 1.4. Ohio's significant health challenges continue to be mental health and addiction, chronic disease, and maternal and infant health. Ohio's performance worsened or did not improve. Cross-cutting factors include poverty, lack of access to transportation, lack of physical activity, unhealthy eating, and lack of access to care.
 - **Appendix A 1.5.** Ohio's addiction crisis increased prevalence of hepatitis and number of children in foster care.
 - Appendix A 1.6. Multi-sector collaboration is important to improve health. Approximately 80 percent of modifiable factors that can improve health are related to health behaviors (healthy eating and tobacco cessation) and social determinants of health (housing, transportation, education, employment). Poverty, racism, discrimination, trauma, violence and toxic stress lead to health disparities.

Appendix A – 2. State of Ohio's Progress on 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan's Outcomes related to Overall Health

Desired Outcome	Indicator	Baseline (2015)	Current Year (2017)
Improve overall health status	% of adults with fair or poor health	16.5%	18.9%
Improve overall health status	Worst outcome – Low- income adults (less than \$15,000 annual household income	38.6%	45.1%
Reduce premature death	Years of potential life lost before age 75, per 100,000 population (age- adjusted)	7,876.1	8,774.5
Reduce premature death	<u>Worst outcome</u> – Black (non-Hispanic)	10,850.5	12,599

Appendix A - 3. State of Ohio's Progress on 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan's Outcomes related to Mental Health and Addiction

Desired Outcome	Indicator	Baseline (2013-2014)	2015-2016
Reduce depression (%)	% of persons 12-17 years with a major depressive episode in the past year	10.33%	13.98%
	% persons ages 18+ with a major depressive episode in the past year	7.33%	7.85%
Reduce drug dependence or abuse (%)	% persons age 12+ who has illicit drug dependence or abuse in the past year	2.76%	2.61%
Reduce suicide deaths	Number of suicide deaths per 100,000 population	13.9	14.8
	Males ages 10-24	15.9	18.5
	Males ages 25-44	28.5	33.6
	White (non-Hispanic) males ages 45-64	34	32.1
	White (non-Hispanic) males ages 65+	32.2	33
Reduce unintentional drug overdose death	Number of deaths due to unintentional drug overdoses per 100,000 population	27.7	44.1
	White (non-Hispanic) males ages 25-44	87.1	136.7
	White (non-Hispanic) males ages 45-64	43.5	72.4
	White (non-Hispanic) females ages 25-54	39.7	59.9
	Black (non-Hispanic) males ages 25-54	50.9	99
	Black (non-Hispanic) males 55-64	74.7	137.8

Appendix A – 4. State of Ohio's Progress on 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan's Outcomes related to Chronic Disease

Desired Outcome	Indicator	Baseline (2015)	2017
Reduce heart disease (%)	% of adults ever diagnosed with coronary heart disease	4.2%	4.7%
	% of adults ever diagnosed with heart	4.9%	5.5%
	attack		
Reduce hypertension (%)	% of adults ever diagnosed with hypertension	34.3%	34.7%
	Black or African American (non-Hispanic)	40.3%	40%
	People with a disability	53.1%	No data
	People with less than high school diploma	40.7%	48.9%
	People with less than \$15,000 annual household income	35.7%	46.6%
	People older than 65 years	62.2%	60%
	People who live in Appalachian counties	39.7%	No data
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Reduce diabetes (%)	% of adults who have been told by a health professional that they have diabetes	11%	11.3%
	Black or African American (non-Hispanic)	14.1%	14.2%
	People with a disability	21.8%	No data
	People with less than high school diploma	13.6%	15.8%
	People with less than \$15,000 annual household income	13.7%	19.4%
	People older than 65 years	23.4%	22.8%
	People who live in Appalachian counties	12.3%	No data
Monitor prediabetes (%)	% of adults who have been told by a health professional that they have prediabetes	7.5%	8.8%
Reduce child asthma morbidity (Emergency department visits per 10,000 children)	Emergency department visits for pediatric asthma, per 10,000 children, ages 0-17 (does not include patients with cystic fibrosis or respiratory system abnormalities or transfers)	86.9	72.3
	Black or African American	245.6	175.9
	Appalachian counties	78.2	No data

Appendix A – 5. State of Ohio's Progress on 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan's Outcomes related to Maternal and Infant Health

Desired Outcome	Indicator	Baseline (2015)	Current Year (2017)
Reduce preterm births (%)	% of live births that are preterm, less than 37 weeks gestation	10.3%	10.4%
	Black, non-Hispanic	14.1%	14.3%
	People with less than high school diploma	11.5%	11.7%
	Less than 18 years old	10.7%	10.7%
Reduce very preterm births (%)	% of births which the newborn weighed less than 32 weeks	1.7%	1.8%
Reduce low birth-weight births (%)	% of births in which the newborn weighed less than 2.500 grams	8.5%	8.7%
	Black, non-Hispanic	13.9%	14.3%
	People with less than high school diploma	10.8%	11.3%
	Less than 18 years old	10.2%	10.8%
Reduce infant mortality	Rate of infant deaths per 1,000 live births	7.2	7.2
	Black, Non-Hispanic	15.2	15.8
Reduce neonatal infant deaths	Rate of neonatal infant deaths per 1,000 live births	4.8	5
Reduce post-neonatal infant deaths	Rate of post-neonatal infant deaths per 1.000 live births	2.4	2.2

Appendix B. Summary of Guernsey and Noble Counties Health and Social Determinants of Health Data

Appendix B –1. **2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Most Important Health Issues Affecting Guernsey County based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (497 respondents)
Drug abuse; alcohol abuse; addiction	48.2%
Cost of health insurance or health care	12.8%
Obesity; poor diet; lack of exercise	10.6%
Cancer	10.2%
Access to doctors or quality health care	7.8%
Depression; mental health	5.1%
COVID-19	4.9%
Low-income; poverty; homelessness	3.9%
Heart disease; high blood pressure; high cholesterol	3.5%
Pollution; water quality; air quality	3.1%
Flu	2.6%
Other	13.6%

Appendix B – 2. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Reasons Respondents Delayed Medical Care based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (680 respondents)
Didn't have insurance	7.6%
Could not afford the co-pay	6.8%
Couldn't schedule an appointment soon enough	2.8%
Didn't have transportation	1.7%
Couldn't schedule an appointment at all	0.4%
Other	5.4%
Didn't delay medical care	79.5%

Appendix B – **3. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Reasons Respondents Didn't Fill Prescriptions Based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (680 respondents)
Could not afford the co-pay	4.8%
Didn't have insurance	1.5%
Didn't have transportation	0.2%
Other	2.7%
Prescriptions were filled if needed	91.4%

Appendix B – 4. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Reasons Respondents Traveled Outside of Guernsey County to Receive Medical Care based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

Type of Care	Guernsey County (245 respondents)
Primary care	13.3%
Vision/dental care	14.7%
Cardiovascular/respiratory care	14.3%
Bone and joint/rheumatology	13.2%
Women's health/obstetrics and gynecology	9.5%
Skin care (dermatology)	7.2%
Mental health care	6.4%
Endocrine system/diabetic care	5.1%
Cancer	4.7%

Appendix B – **5. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Use of Tobacco, Alcohol and Marijuana (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (666 respondents)
Cigarettes	19.6%
E-cigarettes (Juul)	4.2%
Other tobacco/nicotine products	10.8%
Binge-drinkers	29.2%
Medical Marijuana use	4.3%
Recreational Marijuana use	5.6%

Appendix B – **6. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Knowing Anyone Abusing Drugs or Having an Addiction Problem based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (644 respondents)
Heroin	11.8%
Methamphetamines	16.4%
Prescription pain medicine	24.7%
Any one of the above	47.5%

Appendix B – **7. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Body Mass Index (BMI) based from ((Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (668 respondents)
Underweight (BMI < 18.5)	1.7%
Normal weight (BMI = 18.5 to 24.9)	22.5%
Overweight (BMI = 25 to 29.9)	30.8%
Obese (BMI > 29.9)	45%

Appendix B – **8. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** —Self-Reported Nutrition or Healthy Eating (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (653 respondents)
Drank 100% fruit juice in the past 7 days	54.9% (average of 2.3 times in the past 7 days)
Ate fruit	82.7% (average of 5 times in the past 7 days)
Ate vegetables	95.4% (average of 7 times in the past 7 days)
Drank a can, bottle, or glass of soda or pop	56.2% (average of 2.9 times in the past 7 days)
Ate fast food	72.1% (average of 1.7 times in the past 7 days)

Appendix B – 9. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Self-Reported Physical Activity in Past 7 Days (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (643 respondents)
Engaged in physical activity for a total of at least 30 minutes on average in past 7 days	4.1 days
Exercises to strengthen or tone muscles on average in past 7 days	1.2 days

Appendix B – 10.2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Self-Reported Average Daily
Hours Spent on Television, Internet and Sleep based from the (Illuminology,
The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey
Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (642 respondents)
Average hours per day watching television	3.1 hours
Average hours per day on the Internet	2.5 hours
Average hours of sleep each night	6.9 hours

Appendix B – 11. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Self-Reported Diagnoses of Mental Health Conditions based from the (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (679 respondents)
Ever been diagnosed with a depressive disorder including depression and dysthymia)	23%
Ever been diagnosed with an anxiety disorder including acute stress disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, or social anxiety disorder	20.9%

Appendix B – **12. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Poor Mental Health Days in the Past 30 (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (673 respondents)
Percent of respondents who had at least 1 poor mental health day	37%
Average number of days with poor mental health	4.2 days
Percent of respondents for whom mental health affected their level of activity	22.7%
Average number of days by which activity levels were affected	2.3 days

Appendix B – **13. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Perceptions of Health Status (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (673 respondents)
Excellent health status	11%
Very good health status	41%
Good health status	33%
Fair health status	11%
Poor health status	4%

Appendix B – **14. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey** — Self-Reported Poor Physical Health Days in the Past 30 Days (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (670 respondents)
Percent of respondents having at least 1 poor physical health day	47%
Average days with poor physical health	4.6 days
Percent of respondents who had activity levels that were affected for at least 1 day due to poor physical health	32 .9%
Average days when activity levels were affected by poor physical health	3.2 days

Appendix B – 15. 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey — Self-Reported Diagnoses of Chronic Health Conditions based from the 2020 Guernsey County Health Survey (Illuminology, The Ohio State University College of Public Health and Cambridge-Guernsey Health Department, 2020).

	Guernsey County (643 respondents)
Ever been diagnosed with high blood pressure	38.8%
Ever been diagnosed with high blood cholesterol	34.5%
Ever been diagnosed with diabetes	17.4%
Ever been diagnosed with asthma	11.6%
Ever been diagnosed with Chronic Obstructive	9.3%
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) or emphysema	
Ever been diagnosed with coronary heart disease	8.2%
Ever been diagnosed with heart attack	7.2%

Appendix B — **16.** Most common diagnoses and ICD-10 codes among patients seen at the Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) Emergency Department in 2019.

Most Common Diagnoses Overall	Most Common Hospital Inpatient Diagnosis
Acute upper respiratory infection (J06.9)	Single liveborn infant, delivered vaginally (Z38.00)
Urinary tract infection, site not specified (N39.0)	Sepsis, unspecified organism (A41.9)
Chest pain, unspecified (R07.9)	Pneumonia, unspecified organism (J18.9)
Unspecified injury of head, initial encounter (S09.90XA)	Other specified diseases and conditions complicating pregnancy, childbirth, and the puerperium (O99.89)
Unspecified abdominal pain (R10.9)	Chest pain, unspecified (R07.9)
Acute bronchitis, unspecified (J20.9)	Single liveborn infant, delivered by cesarian (Z38.01)
Other chest pain (R07.89)	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with acute exacerbation (J44.1)
Pneumonia, unspecified organism (J18.9)	Urinary tract infection, site not specified (N39.0)
Acute pharyngitis, unspecified (J02.9)	Acute kidney failure, unspecified (N17.9)
Non-infective gastroenteritis and colitis, unspecified (K52.9)	Hypertensive heart disease with heart failure (I11.0)
Nausea with vomiting, unspecified (R11.2)	Encounter for supervision of other normal pregnancy, third trimester (Z34.83)
Streptococcal pharyngitis (J02.0)	Other chest pain (R07.89)
Constipation, unspecified (K59.00)	False labor before 37 completed weeks of gestation, third trimester (O47.03)
Low back pain (M54.5)	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease with heart failure and with stage 1 through 4 chronic kidney disease, or unspecified chronic kidney disease (I13.0)
Headache (R51)	Post-term pregnancy (O48.0)
Dizziness and giddiness (R42)	Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (I48.0)
Anxiety disorder, unspecified (F41.9)	Precordial pain (R07.2)
Bronchitis, not specified as acute or chronic (J40)	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with acute lower respiratory infection (J44.0)
Strain of muscle, fascia and tenon of lower back, initial encounter (S39.012A)	Decreased fetal movements, third trimester, not applicable or unspecified (O36.8130)
Syncope and collapse (R55)	Encounter for supervision of normal first pregnancy, third trimester (Z34.03)

Appendix B – 17. Noble County Health Assessment Survey — Self-Reported Information by Noble County Residents on Health Care Coverage and Access and Utilization of Healthcare. The Noble County self-report data are compared to Ohio and United States (Noble County Health Department and Hospital

Council of Northwest Ohio, 2021).

	Measure	Noble County 2021	Ohio 2019	United States 2019
Health Care Coverage	Percent Uninsured	8%	9%	11%
Access and Utilization	Had at least one person they thought of as their personal doctor or health care provider	84%	80%	77%
Access and Utilization	Visited a doctor for a routine check-up in the past year	72%	78%	78%
Access and Utilization	Needed to see a doctor in the past 12 months but could not because of cost	12%	12%	12%

Appendix B — 18. Noble County Health Assessment Survey — Self-Reported Information by Noble County Residents on Preventive Medicine related to Immunizations, Women's Health, Men's Health Screenings, and Oral Health Screenings. The Noble County self-report data are compared to Ohio and United States (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio, 2021).

	Measure	Noble County 2021	Ohio 2019	United States 2019
Preventive Medicine	Had a pneumonia vaccination (age 65 and over)	71%	75%	73%
Preventive Medicine	Had a flu vaccine the past year (age 65 and over)	75%	63%	64%
Preventive Medicine	Ever had a shingles or zoster vaccine	23%	29%	29%
Women's Health	Had a mammogram within the past two years (age 40 and older)	72%	74%	72%
Women's Health	Had a Pap smear within the past three years (age 21 to 65)	64%	79%	80%
Men's Health	Had a prostate- specific antigen (PSA) test in the past two years (age 40 and older)	47%	34%	33%
Oral Health	Visited a dentist or dental clinic in the past year	69%	67%	68%

Appendix B — 19. Noble County Health Assessment Survey — Self-Reported Information by Noble County Residents on Health Status Perceptions. The Noble County self-report data are compared to Ohio and United States (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio, 2021).

	Measure	Noble County 2021	Ohio 2019	United States 2019
Health Status Perceptions	Rated health as excellent or very good	43%	48%	51%
Health Status Perceptions	Rated health as fair or poor	18%	19%	18%
Health Status Perceptions	Rated physical heath as not good on four or more days (in the past 30 days)	27%	24%	23%
Health Status Perceptions	Average days that physical health was not good in the past month	4.6 days	4.1 days	3.7 days
Health Status Perceptions	Rated mental health as not good on four or more days in the past 30 days	32%	26%	24%
Health Status Perceptions	Average days that mental health was not good in the past month	4.6 days	4.8 days	4.1 days
Health Status Perceptions	Poor physical or mental health kept them from doing regular activities such as self-care, work r recreation on at least 1 day during the past 30 days.	26%	24%	24%

Appendix B — 20. Noble County Health Assessment Survey — Self-Reported Information by Noble County Residents n Tobacco and Alcohol Use. The Noble County self-report data are compared to Ohio and United States (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio, 2021).

	Measure	Noble County 2021	Ohio 2019	United States 2019
Tobacco Use	Current smoker (currently smoke during some or all days)	12%	21%	16%
Tobacco Use	Former smoker (smoked 100 cigarettes in the past and now do not smoke)	27%	24%	25%
Tobacco Use	Current e-cigarette user (vaped on some or all days)	2%	5%	4%
Alcohol Use	Current drinker (drank alcohol at least once in the past month)	53%	51%	54%
Alcohol Use	Binge drinker (consumed more than four (women) or fie (men) alcoholic beverages on a single occasion in the past 30 days)	21%	18%	17%
Alcohol Use	Drove a vehicle after too much alcohol to drink	2%	4%	3%

Appendix B — 21. Noble County Health Assessment Survey — Self-Reported Information by Noble County Residents on Chronic Diseases. Noble County self-report data are compared to Ohio and United States (Noble County Health Department and Hospital Council of Northwest Ohio, 2021).

	Measure	Noble County 2021	Ohio 2019	United States 2019
Weight	Percent people who are obese	35%	35%	32%
Weight	Percent people who are overweight	32%	35%	35%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had angina or coronary heart disease	8%	5%	4%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had a heart attack	8%	5%	4%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had a stroke	2%	4%	3%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had high blood pressure	37%	35%	32%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had high blood cholesterol	43%	33%	33%
Heart and Vascular Disease	Had blood cholesterol checked within past 5 years	81%	85%	87%
Asthma	Ever been diagnosed with asthma	15%	16%	15%
Arthritis	Ever been diagnosed with arthritis	44%	31%	26%
Diabetes	Ever been diagnosed with diabetes	17%	12%	11%
Prediabetes	Ever been diagnosed with prediabetes or borderline diabetes	7%	2%	2%

Appendix B — 22. Cancer Incidence (New Cases) and Mortality Rates in Guernsey and Noble Counties versus Ohio and United States, 2015-2019 — Data represent rates per 100,000 population and are-adjusted to the 2000 U.S. standard population (Ohio Department of Health, 2022; U.S. Cancer Statistics Workgroup, 2022).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio	United States
All Cancer Sites/Types Incidence Rates	510.9	347.2	471.5	449
All Cancer Sites/Types Mortality Rates	188.9	135.5	169.4	152.4
Lung and Bronchus Cancer Incidence Rates	96.9	58.8	66.7	56
Lung and Bronchus Cancer Mortality Rates	61.4	39.2	45	36.7
Colon and Rectum Cancer Incidence Rates	51.9	31.8	40.5	38
Colon and Rectum Cancer Mortality Rates	19.1	14.1	14.8	13.4
Female Breast Cancer Incidence Rates	93.5	112	130.6	128
Female Breast Cancer Mortality Rates	11.9	No data	21.6	19.9
Prostate Cancer Incidence Rates	114.5	58.3	112.5	110
Prostate Cancer Mortality Rates	18.5	16.6	19.4	18.9

Appendix B –23. Top Five Cancers in Guernsey County versus Ohio by Percentage of New Cancer Cases (Ohio Department of Health, 2021; Ohio Department of Health, 2022)

	Guernsey County (2014-2018)	Ohio (2019)
Lung and Bronchus Cancer	19.9%	14.4%
Colon and Rectum	10.7%	8%
Prostate	10.4%	12.9%
Breast (Female)	8.9%	14.4%
Bladder	5.6%	4.7%

Appendix B –24. Top Five Cancers in Guernsey County versus Ohio by Percentage of Cancer Deaths (Ohio Department of Health, 2021; Ohio Department of Health, 2022)

	Guernsey County (2014-2018)	Ohio (2019)
Lung and Bronchus Cancer	34%	25.6%
Colon and Rectum	11.1%	8.4%
Pancreas	5.2%	8%
Leukemia	4.2%	3.9%
Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma	4%	3.3%

Appendix B –25. Top Five Cancers in Noble County versus Ohio by Percentage of New Cancer Cases (Ohio Department of Health, 2021; Ohio Department of Health, 2022)

	Noble County (2014-2018)	Ohio (2019)
Lung and Bronchus Cancer	16.8%	14.4%
Prostate Cancer	11.3%	12.9%
Breast Cancer (Female)	10.8%	14.4%
Colon and Rectum Cancer	10.3%	8%
Bladder Cancer	6%	4.7%

Appendix B –26. Top Five Cancers in Noble County versus Ohio by Percentage of Cancer Deaths (Ohio Department of Health, 2021; Ohio Department of Health, 2022)

	Noble County (2014-2018)	Ohio (2019)
Lung and Bronchus	28.1%	25.6%
Colon and Rectum	10.8%	8.4%
Pancreas	7.8%	8%
Prostate	6.6%	4.8%
Leukemia	4.8%	3.9%

Appendix B – 27. Length of Life and Quality of Life Measures that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Premature Death (Years of potential life lost before age 75 per 100,000 population, age adjusted)	10,200	7,500	8,700
Life Expectancy (Average number of years a person can expect to live)	75	81.2	76.5
Poor or Fair Health (Percent of adults reporting fair or poor health, age adjusted)h	22%	22%	18%
Poor Physical Health Days (Average number of physically unhealthy days reported in past 30 days, age-adjusted)	5	4.8	4.2
Poor Mental Health Days (Average number of mentally unhealthy days reported in past 30 days, age adjusted)	5.8	5.6	5.2
Frequent Physical Distress (Percent of adults reporting 14 or more days of poor physical health per month, age adjusted)	16%	15%	13%
Frequent Mental Distress (Percent of adults reporting 14 or more days of poor mental health per month, age adjusted)	19%	19%	17%
Diabetes Prevalence (Percent of adults aged 20 and above with diagnosed diabetes, age adjusted)	12%	11%	10%
HIV Prevalence (Number of people aged 13 years and older living with a diagnosis of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection per 100,000 population	79	304	235

Appendix B - 28. Health Behaviors that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Adult Smoking (Percent of adults who are current smokers, age adjusted)	26%	27%	22%
Adult Obesity (Percent of the adult population, age 18 and older) that reports a body mass index (BMI) greater than or equal to 30 kg/m2, age adjusted)	38%	39%	35%
Food Environment Index (Index of factors that contribute to a healthy food environment, from 0 (worst) to 10 (best)	6.3	6.3	6.8
Food insecurity (Percent of population who lack adequate access to food)	17%	16%	13%
Limited Access to Healthy Foods (Percent of population who are low-income and do not live close to a grocery store)	13%	14%	7%
Physical Inactivity (Percent of adults age 18 and over reporting no leisure-time physical activity, age adjusted)	32%	33%	28%
Excessive Drinking (Percent of adults reporting binge or heavy drinking, age adjusted)	20%	20%	21%
Alcohol-Impaired Driving Deaths (Percent of driving deaths with alcohol involvement)	35%	38%	33%

Continuation of Appendix B - 28. Health Behaviors that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Drug Overdose Deaths (Number of drug poisoning deaths per 100,000 population)	32	No data	38
Motor Vehicle Crash Deaths (Number of drug poisoning deaths per 100,000 population)	12	12	10
Sexually Transmitted Infections (Number of newly diagnosed chlamydia cases per 100,000 population)	352.4	298.1	559.4
Insufficient Sleep (Percent of adults who report fewer than 7 hours of sleep on average, ageadjusted)	42%	42%	41%

Appendix B – 29. Clinical Care that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Uninsured (Percent of population under age 65 without health insurance)	9%	8%	8%
Uninsured Adults (Percent of adults under age 65 without health insurance)	10%	9%	9%
Uninsured Children (Percent of children under age 19 without health insurance)	5%	6%	5%
Primary Care Physicians (Ratio of population to primary care physicians)	2,590:1	7210:1	1,290:1
Other Primary Care Providers (Ratio of population to primary care providers other than physicians)	1,140:1	2,050:1	830:1
Mental Health Providers (Ratio of population to mental health providers)	440:1	840:1	350:1
Preventable Hospital Stays (Rate of hospital stays for ambulatory-care sensitive conditions per 100,000 Medicare enrollees)	4,606	3,961	4,338
Mammography Screening (Percent of female Medicare enrollees ages 65-74 that received an annual mammography	46%	37%	45%
Flu Vaccinations (Percent of fee-for-service (FFS) Medicare enrollees that had an annual flu vaccination	43%	48%	51%

Appendix B – 30. Social Determinants of Health that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
High School Completion (Percent of adults ages 25 and over with a high school diploma or equivalent)	85%	83%	91%
High school graduation (Percent of ninth-grade cohort that graduates in four years)	80%	86%	83%
Some college (Percent of adults ages 25-44 with some post- secondary education)	49%	36%	66%
Unemployment (Percent of population ages 16 and older unemployed but seeking work)	8.7%	9.6%	8.1%
Children in poverty (Percent of people under age 18 in poverty)	24%	16%	17%
Income inequality Ratio of household income at the 80 th percentile to income at the 20 th percentile)	4.3	4.1	4.6
Children in single-parent households (Percent of children that live in a household headed by a single parent)	23%	15%	27%
Social associations Number of social associations per 10,000 population)	15.7	12.5	10.9

Continuation of Appendix B – 30. Social Determinants of Health that are Related to the Priority Health Needs in Guernsey and Noble Counties: (a) Drug Addiction and Substance Use, (b) Chronic Diseases, and (c) Mental Health (Depression and Anxiety).

	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Violent crime (Number of reported violent crime offenses per 100,000 population)	No data	No data	293
Injury deaths (Number of deaths due to injury per 100,000 population)	92	65	96
Disconnected youth (Percent of teens and young adults ages 16-19 who are neither working nor in school)	7%	No data	6%
Homicides (Number of deaths due to homicide per 100,000 population)	4	No data	6
Suicides (Number of deaths due to suicide per 100,000 population, age adjusted)	15	No data	15
Firearm fatalities (Number of deaths due to firearms per 100,000 population)	12	No data	14
Juvenile arrests (Rate of delinquency cases per 1,000 juveniles)	48	14	33
Severe housing cost burden (Percent of households that spend 50% or more of their household income on housing)	12%	5%	12%
Broadband access (Percent of households with broadband internet connection)	77%	69%	85%

Appendix C. List of Community Stakeholders in SEORMC's Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)

AllWell Behavioral Health Services – Guernsey and Noble Counties

- Representative: Maggie Ault (Director); Wade Danser (staff), Tammy Stillion (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medical underserved, low-income, or minority populations served by the organization: Provides behavioral health services to residents of Guernsey County and neighboring communities regardless of ability to pay
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to AllWell Behavioral Health Services. On behalf of AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Tammy Stillion, approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: http://allwell.org/
- **Mission of organization:** "We integrate mental and physical care to offer the hope of wellbeing for you and every member of your family."
- Examples of programs and services (AllWell Behavioral Health Services, 2016-2022):
 - Adult services includes emergency service, counseling and therapy, psychiatry and medications, programs for personal growth, intervention and stabilization during crisis, housing support, employment support, support groups, access to peer support, and health and wellness.
 - Children and teen services includes diagnostic services, counseling and therapy, linkage to community resources, psychiatry and management of medications, group homes for boys and girls aged 12 to 18, and community education to promote awareness of mental health services and reduce the stigma of mental illness
 - + **Services for employers** managed care services, education, prevention and early intervention through Employee Assistance Programs
 - Assistance to healthcare providers –coordinates patient's health care services for mental health, primary care and community linkages

Area Agency on Aging Region 9

- Representatives: Carol Baker (Outreach and Communications Officer); James Endly (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by the organization: Serves Ohioans residing in the nine-county area, including Belmont, Carroll, Coshocton, Guernsey, Harrison, Holmes, Jefferson, Muskingum and Tuscarawas Counties
- Inputs:
 - + **November 2019 to July 2021** Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to Area Agency on Aging Region 9. On behalf of the Area Agency on Aging Region 9, Carol Baker and James Endly approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: aaa9.org
- Mission of organization: "We work with people, communities and organizations to help older adults and people with disabilities live independently and enjoy the highest quality of life possible."
- Examples of programs and services (Area Agency on Aging Region 9, Inc., 2022):
 - + Quality and planning monitoring of grants and contracts.
 - + Screening and assessment conducted in the homes of older adults as an initial step in developing care plans to promote health and safety.
 - + Case management performed by social workers and nurses as part of the PASSPORT

Caldwell First Church of Nazarene

- Representative(s): John Powell (Pastor)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by

organization: Serves all persons from southeast Ohio

- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to Caldwell Church of the Nazarene.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://www.caldwellnaz.org/about-us/meet-the-staff
- Examples of programs and services (Caldwell Church of the Nazarene, 2013-2022)
 - Faith/religious education
 - + Worship and ministries
 - + Community outreach and collaborations

Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce

- Representative: Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce staff member
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by the organization: Serves Guernsey County businesses and residents
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://cambridgeohiochamber.com/chamber-info/
- Mission of organization: "Enhance the economic, civic, and cultural growth of the area, to improve the
 quality of life in the community, and to act as the voice of business. It makes available to all members of
 the business community, firms, and individuals alike, the necessary vehicle through which to combine
 forces for executing the continuous, year-after-year program of work necessary for positive business
 development.
- Examples of programs and services (Cambridge Area Chamber of Commerce, n.d.):
 - + Heightens consumer awareness
 - + Maximizes local talent in local workforce
 - + Develops leadership within the community
 - + Increase networking and referrals among local businesses

Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center

- + Representative(s): Carmella Dixon (staff), Brittany Mathews (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves all persons regardless of ability to pay
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center. On behalf of the Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center, the staff approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://www.cambridgeymcaoh.com/
- Mission of organization: "To help you strengthen your spirit, sharpen your mind, and build your body."
- + Examples of programs and services (Cambridge Area YMCA Family Center)
 - + Youth Development
 - + After-School Enrichment Program
 - + Group exercise classes, personal training, and fitness orientation

Cambridge City Government

- Representative: Clerk of Council
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medical underserved, low-income, or minority populations served by the
- **organization:** Serves residents of the City of Cambridge, Guernsey County, Ohio.
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Cambridge City Government.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2021
- Website: https://cambridgeoh.org/
- Mission of organization: "The primary goal of this office is to serve the public interest and the residents of the City of Cambridge to the best of its ability under the authority granted it by the Cambridge City Council governed by the laws of the State of Ohio and the City of Cambridge while utilizing all City resources in an efficient and prudent manner to obtain those objectives for the public good."
- Examples of programs and services (City of Cambridge, 2021)
 - Public safety
 - + Fire department
 - + Police department
 - + Code enforcement
 - + Other standard city government duties

Cambridge City Schools

- Representative: Jennifer Howell, Casey McVicker, Karen Yanico
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medical underserved, low-income, or minority populations served by the
 organization: Serves K-12 students and their families in Cambridge, Ohio
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to Cambridge City Schools.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2021
- Website: https://www.cambridgecityschools.org/Default.aspx
- Mission of organization: "We are Cambridge. Empowering Bobcats for the Future."
- Examples of programs and services
 - + Education
 - + Transportation
 - + Programs and activities for students and families

Cambridge - Guernsey County Health Department

- Representatives: Rose Ball (staff), Angie Gray (staff), Ashton Wisenbarger (staff), Michelle Thompson (staff), Edward Colby (staff), Ryan Murphy (staff), Jennifer VanFleet (staff), Kylie Jones (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves Guernsey County residents who need public assistance, collection of child support, employment, training, and social services
- Input:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department. On behalf of the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, Kylie Jones approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://www.guernseycountyhealthdepartment.org/
- Mission of organization: "To improve quality of life for Guernsey County by promoting health, preventing disease, and assuring a safe environment."
- Examples of programs and services (Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, 2022):
 - Women's Health Services —offers services including pap tests, family planning education, preventative screenings
 - WIC (Women, Infants, and Children provides nutrition education, breastfeeding support, and referrals to other health and human service agencies.
 - + **Healthy Moms, Healthy Babies Program** provides resources to support the health and safety of mom and baby in all aspects of recovery.
 - + Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan

Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions

- Representative: Troy Beynon (Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel), Lesleigh Berg (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Provides outpatient behavioral health services throughout central and southeastern Ohio regardless of ability to pay.
- + Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://www.crbhs.org/about-us
- Mission of organization: "Here at Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions (CRBHS), we are committed to enriching the lives of individuals and families throughout Central and Southeastern Ohio. Our highly-qualified and caring therapists are dedicated to providing each individual we serve with the best possible opportunity to reach his or her full potential."
- Examples of programs and services (Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health, 2022):
 - + Residential services
 - + Outpatient services program
 - + Medication-Assisted treatment
 - + Psychiatric services
 - + Recovery housing
 - Intensive outpatient program
 - + Employment services
 - + Group services
 - + Driver intervention services

Community Members

- Representative(s): D. Miser (community member), V.L.Hare (community member), E Duce, C. LaFollette (community member)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Not applicable
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2021
- Website: Not applicable
- Mission of organization: Not applicable
- Examples of programs and services: Not applicable

Early Intervention of Ohio — Guernsey County

- + Representative: Kelly Engstrom (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves children and with disabilities up to age 3.
- + Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Early Intervention of Ohio based in Guernsey County.
- + **Time frame of input:** November 2019 to July 2022
- + **Website**: https://ohioearlyintervention.org/mission-and-key-principles
- Mission of organization: "Early Intervention builds upon and provides supports and resources to assist family members and caregivers to enhance children's learning and development through everyday learning opportunities."
- + **Examples of programs and services** (Ohio Early Intervention, n.d.).
 - + Teaching skills to Infants and toddlers
 - + Support to families
 - + Empowerment of families to care for infants and toddlers
 - + Access to service providers
 - + Culture sensitive teaching and learning
 - + Creation of Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP)
 - + Evidenced-based Interventions with young children and family members

East Guernsey Local School District

- + Representative(s): Lori Paden (staff), Tracy Taylor (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves K-12 children and their families
- + Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the East Guernsey Local School District.
- + **Time frame of input:** November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://eguernsey.k12.oh.us
- Mission of organization: "Our mission is to provide a quality education through shared responsibility in a safe supportive environment for all students to meet the challenges of a global society. We are "Committed to Excellence," and we work hard to make the site a primary source for timely information for all users.
- Examples of programs and services (East Guernsey Local Schools, 2022).
 - Academic education
 - + Transportation
 - Athletics

GMN Tri-County CAC, Inc.

- Representative: Michele Hollins (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medical underserved, low-income, or minority populations served by the organization: Serves residents in the Tri-County jurisdiction
- + Inputs:
 - + July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the East Guernsey Local School District.
- + Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://gmntrico.org/
- Mission of organization: "We strive to stimulate and encourage opportunities which enhance
 conditions for which people live, learn and work through public service and assistance. Our myriad of
 programs encompasses Newborn to Senior Citizens and all ages in between. Services are available to
 all income eligible in accordance with prescribed programmatic and fiscal limitations."
- Examples of programs and services (GMN, 2022):
 - + Community Services Block Grant
 - + Comprehensive Case Management employment
 - + Emergency HEAP
 - + Emergency Home Repair Program
 - Head Start/Early Head Start
 - + Homeless Prevention Program
 - Senior Services

Guernsey County Board of Developmental Disabilities

- + Representative(s): Matt Costello (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves residents of Guernsey County
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Board of Developmental Disabilities.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://www.guernseycountydd.org/
- Mission of organization: "Our mission is to ensure quality services that enhance the lives of individuals through the use of available resources."
- + **Examples of programs and services** (Guernsey County Board of Developmental Disabilities, no date).
 - + Serves all age groups with developmental disabilities
 - + Intake and eligibility
 - + Residential services
 - + Resources

Guernsey County Children's Services

- Representative: Staff Member
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves Guernsey County residents, children, families to provide for the safety, stability, and well-being of their children.
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Children's Services.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://guernseycountycs.org/
- Mission of organization: "Guernsey County Children Services strives to assure all children have an
 environment free of abuse and neglect, while assisting to preserve and empower families to provide for
 the safety, stability, and well-being of their children" Guernsey County Children Services, 2018).
- Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County Children Services, 2018):
 - + Screening
 - Assessment/Investigation
 - + Case Management Intervention
 - + Foster Care
 - + Adoption
 - Kinship Care
 - + Independent Living Program
 - Prevention Services

Guernsey County Community Development Corporation

- + Representative(s): Ron Gombeda (Executive Director)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves residents of Guernsey County
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Community Development Corporation.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + **Website**: https://guernseycountycdc.com/
- Mission of organization: "The Guernsey County CDC is a local 501©3 non-profit dedicated to improving our local community's quality of life." (2018)
- + Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County CDC, n.d.).
 - + Parks and Recreation
 - + Support of Local Veterans
 - + Environmental Conservation
 - + Support of local townships

Guernsey County Government

- + Representative(s): Dave Wilson (Commissioner)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves residents of Guernsey County
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Government. On behalf of the Guernsey County Government, Dave Wilson approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://guernseycounty.org/commissioners/
- Mission of organization: To serve the residents of Guernsey County through local government programs and services
- + Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County, 2022):
 - Various local government programs and services includes initiatives of the Guernsey County Commissioners, Guernsey County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, Guernsey County Township Trustee, and the Guernsey County Coroner

Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services

- Representative: Kathy Jamiel (staff), Nicole Caldwell (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves Guernsey County residents who need public assistance, collection of child
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan.
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services. Ob behalf of the Guernsey County Department of Job and Family Services, Kathy Jamiel approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: www.guernseycountyjfs.org/
- Mission of organization: "Guernsey County Job & Family Services (GCJFS) is a county, state and federally supported triple-combined agency that develops and oversees programs and services designed to strengthen families and protect the elderly."
- Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County Jobs & Family Services, 2022):
 - + **Financial and food assistance** helps provide food benefits and financial assistance for those in need of financial assistance in Guernsey County.
 - + **Paternity and child support services** Helps provide support services and establish paternity for children
 - Employment services Assists individuals with serious barriers to employment through education and job placement, as well as workforce development and veteran placement for employers.
 - Social services provides transportation and protective services as well as childcare for eligible Ohioans

Guernsey County Juvenile Court

- + Representative(s): Tim Welch (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Provides care, protection, and mental and physical development of children subject to the court's jurisdiction: to protect the welfare of the community, and to protect the public interest treating children as persons in need of supervision, care, and rehabilitation.
- Inputs:
 - + **November 2019 to July 2021** Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Juvenile Court. On behalf of the Guernsey County Juvenile Court, Tim Welch approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.

+

- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://guernseycounty.org/juvenile-court/
- Mission of organization: "To provide the care, protection, and mental and physical development of children subject to the Court's jurisdiction; to protect the welfare of the community, and to protect the public interest by treating children as persons in need of supervision, care, and rehabilitation"
- + Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County Probate/Juvenile Court and Juvenile Probation, 2022):
 - + Court activities related to delinquent/unruly children (truancy)
 - Court activities related to dependent, abused, neglected children under the Guernsey County Children Services
 - + Court activities related to traffic offenders
 - Court activities related to custody, visitation, child support, paternity for unmarired or married persons who are living separate and apart
 - + Court activities related to Juvenile Civil Protection Orders

Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center, Inc.

- Representatives: Kylee Quinn (Wellness Coordinator); Shon Gress (Staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves senior citizens in Guernsey County
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center, Inc. On behalf of the Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center, Inc, Kylee Quinn and Shon Gress approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: www.guernseysenior.org/
- Mission of organization: "To promote the nutritional, physical, emotional, social, and economic wellbeing of older adults, and to promote their participation in all aspects of community life"
- Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center, n.d.):
 - Homemaking and Personal Care
 Provide services for seniors to stay in-home such as cleaning, laundry, shopping and meal preparation, as well as personal hygiene
 - + **Information and Outreach** Inform the public through release of a monthly "Senior Times" newsletter, speaking engagements, and information by the local media.
 - Nutrition Works to provide hot, nutritious meals Monday through Friday at various senior centers and churches across the county, as well as a home-delivery service to provide nutritious meals seven days a week.
 - + **Telephone reassurance and visiting** Provides regular interpersonal contact with seniors through the telephone or by volunteers visiting senior centers or the homes of seniors
 - + **Transportation** Allows seniors to navigate to various places around the community including places of employment and medical appointments in center-provided vans.

Guernsey County Sheriff's Office

- + Representative(s): Jeffrey Paden (Sheriff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves residents of Guernsey County and people passing through or visiting Guernsey County
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey County Sheriff's Office.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://www.guernseysheriff.com/
- Mission of organization: "To enforce the laws of the State of Ohio, to deter offenses against the public in the most efficient and cost-effective manner."
- + Examples of programs and services (Guernsey County Sheriff's Office, 2022):
 - + Law enforcement
 - + Sex offender notification
 - + Background check
 - + Information on road conditions
 - Management of inmates

Guernsey Health Choices

- Representatives: Karen Wiggins (staff)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves all persons regardless of ability to pay
- Input:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Guernsey Health Choices. On behalf of Guernsey Health Choices, Karen Wiggins approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://guernseyhealthchoices.org/new-home-2/
- Mission of organization: "Promote personal well-being, provide quality programs and facilitate
 effective, efficient resolutions to behavioral health concerns, including addiction."
- Examples of programs and services (Guernsey Health Choices, 2022):
 - Assessments behavioral health evaluations
 - Outpatient Counseling
 - + Groups
 - + Case Management

Mental Health and Recovery Services Board serving Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble and Perry Counties

- Representatives: Misty Cromwell (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves persons (and their families) who have mental health or addiction disorders from Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble and Perry Counties.
- Input:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Mental Health and Recovery Services Board. On behalf of the Mental Health and Recovery Services Board, Misty Cromwell, approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://www.mhrs.org/about
- Mission of organization: "To facilitate a Recovery-Oriented System of Care that promotes mental health and supports the recovery of each person who needs services for mental illness and/or addiction." (Mental Health and Recovery, 2019).
- Examples of programs and services (Mental Health and Recovery, 2019):
 - Suicide Prevention
 - + Supports groups
 - + Crisis Intervention training
 - + Peer Recovery Support training

Muskingum Valley Health Centers

- Representatives: Brooke Smith
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves all persons regardless of ability to pay
- Input:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Muskingum Valley Health Centers.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://www.mvhccares.org/
- Examples of programs and services (Muskingum Valley Health Centers, 2022):
 - + Adult health
 - + Women's health
 - + Child health
 - + Podiatry
 - + Dental care
 - + Behavioral health
 - + Pharmacy services
 - + School-linked health center

Noble County Board of Developmental Disabilities

Representative: Steve Williams

- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medical underserved, low-income, or minority populations served by the

organization: Serves all persons from Noble County who have developmental disabilities

- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Board of developmental Disabilities.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://www.ncbdd.org/
- Mission of organization: "Encouraging, supporting and respecting people on their journey through life"
- Examples of programs and services (Noble County, 2022):
 - + Supports for children
 - + Supports for adults
 - + Transition Planning
 - Employment first

Noble County Commissioners Office

- + Representative: Brad Peoples (staff); Dave Wilson (Commissioner)
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves all residents of Noble County.
- + Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Commissioner's Office. On behalf of the Commissioner's Office, Dave Wilson approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- + Time frame of input: July 2022
- + Website: https://noblecountyohio.gov/commissioners/
- + Mission of organization: Not available
- + Examples of programs and services (Noble County, Ohio, 2019)
 - + Projects related to fair housing
 - + Community programs that support the Southeast Ohio Area Transit
 - + Economic development
 - + Tourism

Noble County Family & Children First Council

- Representatives: Judy Weisend (staff), Melanie Schott (staff)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves all families and children needing services and support
- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Family and Children First Council. On behalf of the Noble County Family and Children First Council, Melanie Schott approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://www.fcf.ohio.gov/
- **Mission of organization:** "The Ohio Family and Children First Council is a partnership of state and local government, communities and families that enhances the well-being of Ohio's children and families by building community capacity, coordinating systems and services, and engaging families."
- Examples of programs and services (Ohio Governor's Children's Initiative, 2011):
 - + Family engagement
 - + Help Me Grow
 - + Partnerships for Success
 - System of Care
 - + Youth and Young Adults in Transition
 - + Flexible funding

Noble County Family Violence Council

- Representatives: Stephanie Danford (Staff)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves women who are victims of family violence
- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Family Violence Council. On behalf of the Noble County Family Violence Council, Stephanie Danford approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://yellow.place/en/the-noble-family-violence-council-inc-caldwell-usa
- Mission of organization: "The Noble Family Violence Council, Inc. provides and promotes a
 collaborative effort to arrange non-discriminatory services in areas of advocacy, support, prevention,
 and education for victims of domestic violence, their families and the Noble County Community at
 large."
- Examples of programs and services (The Noble Family Violence Council, n.d.):
 - + Advocacy
 - + Support, prevention, and education for victims of domestic violence

Noble County Health Department

- Representatives: Shawn Ray (Health Commissioner), Penny Farnese (Staff), Shannon Frear (Staff), Beth Guiler (Staff), Samantha Hesson (Staff), Shari Rayner (Staff), Lisa Saling (Staff), Connie Williams (Staff), Catie LaFollette (Staff), Jolene Williams (Staff)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves all residents of Noble County regardless of ability to pay
- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Health Department. On behalf of the Noble County Health Department, Shawn Ray, Kirby Moore, Jolene Williams (Carpenter), and Penny Farnese approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://noblecohd.org/
- Mission of organization: "To provide quality services that promote wellness, prevent disease and plan
 a healthy future for our community""
- Examples of programs and services (Noble County Health Department, n.d.):
 - + Environmental health
 - + Birth/death records
 - + Community health programs (Breast and Cervical Cancer Project, car seats, Children with Medical Handicaps, child safety, early head start, early intervention, environmental health, epidemiology, Help Me Grow Home Visiting, personal responsibility education, reproductive health and wellness, responsible social values, Women, Infant and Children (WIC)
 - Health services (allergy shots, birth control, child health, hemoglobin testing, immunizations, communicable disease tracking and reporting, laboratory services, men's health, women's health, physical examinations, pregnancy testing, speech therapy, testing for sexually transmitted infections, testing for tuberculosis
 - + Emergency preparedness

Noble County Veteran's Service Commission Office

- Representatives: Brian Giesey (staff), Joe Williams (staff)
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by the organization: Provides temporary financial assistance to Veterans
- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Noble County Veteran's Service Commission Office.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: https://noblecountyveteransservice.com/about-us
- Mission of organization: "The Noble County Veterans Service Commission is focused on providing high-quality service and customer satisfaction - we will do everything within our ability to help our Veterans obtain benefits from Federal, State and Local agencies."
- Examples of programs and services (Noble County Veterans, n.d.):
 - + Transportation
 - Financial Assistance

Ohio Farm Bureau Guernsey County

- + Representative: Kathi Albertson (staff)
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Provides farmers and their families with discussion forums, local involvement opportunities, scholarships, and access to agricultural resources.
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEOROn behalf of the MC sent the email communication to the Ohio Farm Bureau based in Guernsey County. On behalf of the Ohio Farm Bureau based in Guernsey County, Kathi Albertson approved SEORMC's priority health needs and alignment with the SHIP.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://ofbf.org/community/counties/guernsey/
- + **Mission of organization:** "We are dedicated to working together with farmers to build a robust agricultural community in Ohio".
- Examples of programs and services:
 - Community education
 - + Community engagement

OhioHealth Community Health Partnerships

- Representative(s): Mary Ann G. Abiado, PhD, MSN, RN, Data Management and Evaluation Specialist; Autumn Glover, MPA, MCRP, Senior Director of Community Health Partnerships
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves all persons residing in central Ohio with women's health care, primary care and health education programs.
- Inputs: (a) Collaborated with the Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) Team in writing the 2022 Community Health Needs Assessment and Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy.
- Time frame of input: January 2020 to September 2022
- Website: https://www.ohiohealth.com/
- Mission of organization: "To improve the health of those we serve"
- Examples of programs and services (OhioHealth, 2015-2022):
 - + Wellness on Wheels Women's Health
 - + Wellness on Wheels Primary Care
 - + Health literacy programs
 - + Community-based research
 - + Home visiting and care coordination programs

Rolling Hills Local School District

- + Representative(s): Scott Golec
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization:
 Serves children and families in Rolling Hills, Cambridge, Guernsey County, Ohio.
- Input:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Rolling Hills Local School District
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://rollinghills.k12.oh.us/
- Mission of organization: " Our mission is to be an inviting educational center providing excellent opportunities for all students based upon high expectations in academics, technology, and social development through a strong partnership with the community."
- + **Examples of programs and services** (Rolling Hills Local School District, 2022):
 - + K-12 academic education
 - + Transportation
 - + Athletics
 - Other local school programs and services

Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)

- Representatives: Steven Brooks (Vice President, Human Resources; resigned), Hannah Bingham (Wellness and Patient Experience Manager); Becky Hall, CNP (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by organization: Serves all persons with their healthcare needs regardless of ability to pay
- Inputs:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety).
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- Website: https://seormc.org/about-southeastern-med/
- Examples of programs and services (SEORMC, 2019):
 - Acute care
 - Intensive Care Unit
 - Primary Care and Outpatient Services
 - + Community outreach and collaborations

Village of Byesville Government

- + Representative(s): Jay Jackson
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves all residents of the Village of Byesville.
- Inputs:
 - + November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to the Village of Byesville.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + **Website**: http://byesvilleoh.gov/welcome/government/mayor/
- Mission of organization: Serve the government and community service needs of residents of the Village of Byesville
- + Examples of programs and services (Village of Byesville, n.d.):
 - + Local government services like police and fire departments
 - + Programs and services led by the Office of the Mayor
 - Community engagement

Your Radio Place AVC Communications

- + Representative: Staff member
- + Has knowledge and skills in public health? Yes
- + Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations represented by organization: Serves all persons
- Inputs:
 - November 2019 to July 2021 Participated in at least one meeting of the Guernsey County Health Department Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to AVC Communications.
- Time frame of input: November 2019 to July 2022
- + Website: https://yourradioplace.com/
- Mission of organization: No information available
- + Examples of programs and services (AVC Communications, 2022)
 - + News and articles
 - + Community involvement

The Ohio State University Extension-Noble County

- Representative: Nancy Snook (staff)
- Has knowledge and skills in public health?
- Description of the medically underserved, low-income or minority populations served by the organization: Serves all residents of Noble County, Ohio regardless of ability to pay
- Inputs:
 - July 2022 SEORMC emailed the (a) list of priority health needs that it will address in its Calendar Year 2023-2025 Implementation Strategy and (b) proposed alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan to various community stakeholders. The priority health needs include drug addiction and substance use, chronic disease, and mental health (depression and anxiety). SEORMC sent the email communication to AVC Communications.
- Time frame of input: July 2022
- Website: noble.osu.edu
- Mission of organization: "Engaging people to strengthen their lives and communities through research-based educational programming"
- Examples of programs and services (The Ohio State University, 2022):
 - + 4-H development
 - + Agriculture and natural resources
 - + Community development
 - + Family and consumer sciences
 - Master gardener program
 - + Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program education

Appendix D. Documentation of Program Impacts from the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) and Implementation Strategy Adopted in 2019 by Southeastern Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC)

Priority Need 1 (2019 CHNA): Mental Health and Addiction (MHA)

MHA – 1. Medical stabilization – SEORMC will review options for offering inpatient medical stabilization. Primary goal will be to collect data to prove the need exists within the communities that SEORMC serve, and that program is sustainable.

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

After reviewing the data on community resources available in Guernsey County, SEORMC decided that there is no need to start an inpatient medical stabilization unit. Inpatient medical stabilization units are available in surrounding counties. SEORMC collaborated with the Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC) located at 1330 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. SEORMC physician liaison is currently investigating about the program and services offered by MVHC. This partnership and engagement will enable SEORMC providers to refer to MVHC.

MHA – 1.1. MVHC offers the following services (Muskingum Valley Health Centers, 2022):

- a. Behavioral health
- b. Mental health
- c. Adult primary care that provides acute and chronic management regarding healthcare needs
- d. Dental health that offers both preventative and restorative services
- e. Child health that provides overall health care from birth to age nineteen
- f. Podiatry that provides care specifically focusing on the feet and ankles
- g. Women's health that provides comprehensive gynecological and obstetrical care
- **h.** Pharmacy services participates in a federal program that assists patients on saving money on medications and provides healthcare resources within the community

MHA – 1.2. The collaborative activities between Southeast Ohio Regional Medical Center (SEORMC) and Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC) are tabulated below.

Reporting Period	Dates	Partnering	Objective	Details of
Calendar Year 2020	September 18, 2020	SEORMC Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC)	To cross-refer patients between SEORMC and MVHC	Collaborative Work Learned about MVHC services related to medical stabilization
Calendar Year 2021	February 18, 2021	SEORMC Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC)	To cross-refer patients between SEORMC and MVHC	SEORMC leased a building to MVHC located at 316 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725
Calendar Year 2021	June 1, 2021	SEORMC Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC)	To cross-refer patients between SEORMC and MVHC	MVHC started providing care at the SEORMC Building
Calendar Year 2021	June –December 2021	SEORMC Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC)	To cross-refer patients between SEORMC and MVHC	SEORMC's Case Management team provides education and information on community resources to patients who are repeat offenders or have addiction issues. SEORMC's Case Management sets up appointments for patients in need of MVHC mental health and addiction services. SEORMC's Primary Care Providers refer patients to MVHC's Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT).

MHA – 1.3 —SEORMC Pain Management Clinic — On October 14, 2021, SEORMC opened the Pain Management Clinic located at 1210 Neal Drive, Cambridge, Ohio 43725. The Pain Management Clinic helps in treating the following conditions: (a) neck and back pain, (b) sciatica, (c) headaches/whiplash, (d) arthritis, (e) Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy (RSD), and muscle spasms. RSD is a pain that shows up in arms and legs because of injury, stroke, or heart attack.

The table below summarizes the planning and opening of SEORMC's Pain Management Clinic during Calendar Year 2021. The number of patients served during Calendar Year 2021 are also reported.

Reporting Period	Date	Impacts
Calendar Year 2020	January – December 2020	 Not applicable. The program was not started in Calendar Year 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Calendar Year 2021	August 2021 – October 2021	Planning and opening of the Pain management Clinic
Calendar Year 2021	October 14, 2021	Start of patient care and management
Calendar Year 2021	October – November 2021	SEORMC Emergency Department referred one patient to the Pain Management Clinic
Calendar Year 2021	October 14, 2021 – December 31, 2021	 592 referrals were received. 200 patients were provided with pain management care, including assessment, medications, procedures, and integrative care.

MHA – 2. Coordination of care – SEORMC will work to coordinate local resources around mental health and addiction to create a transition of care that gets the patients the care they need at the time they need it. SEORMC will coordinate with Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, C.H.O.I.C.E.S., Muskingum Valley Health Center, Noble County Health Department, Noble County C.A.R.E.S. (Community, Access, Resources, Education, Services), Genesis HealthCare System and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department.

Impacts for Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

SEORMC coordinated care for patients with mental health and addiction diagnoses by referring them to Allwell Behavioral Services. Patients who did not need referral were provided information about mental and behavioral health agencies in Noble and Guernsey counties. SEORMC continues to collaborate with Noble County Health Department, Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department, Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions, C.H.O.I.C.E.S Anti-Drug Coalition of Guernsey County.

MHA – 2.1. SEORMC's Collaboration with AllWell Behavioral Health Services, National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI) and Genesis Health Systems — The SEORMC Case Management Director participated in various networking meetings with AllWell, NAMI, and Genesis Health Systems to improve cross referrals, strengthen partnerships, and services.

MHA – 2.1.1. SEORMC's mental and behavioral health referrals to AllWell Behavioral Health Services —

Community Agency	Calendar Year 2020 Referrals	Calendar Year 2021 referrals
AllWell Behavioral Health Services	31 referrals	27 referrals

MHA – 2.1.2. SEORMC's Collaborative Meetings with AllWell, NAMI (National Alliance on Mental Illness), and Genesis — SEORMC's Case Management Director participated in the meetings tabulated below.

Reporting Period	Date of Meeting	Participating Agencies	Accomplishments
Calendar Year 2020	April 20, 2020	SEORMC AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Developed a system to complete mental health evaluations of patients virtually
Calendar Year 2020	August 14, 2020	SEORMCAllWell Behavioral Health Services	Discussed ongoing communication regarding patient referrals
Calendar Year 2021	January 19, 2021	SEORMC NAMI	Discussed strategies to increase networking among agencies
Calendar Year 2021	April 15, 2021	SEORMC AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Discussed current contracts and partnerships among agencies
Calendar Year 2021	April 20, 2021	SEORMC NAMI	Discussed updates of programs and services
Calendar Year 2021	May 18, 2021	SEORMC NAMI	Discussed COVID-19 guidelines
Calendar Year 2021	July 20, 2021	SEORMCNAMIGenesis	Learned and discussed programs and services offered by Genesis
Calendar Year 2021	October 19, 2021	SEORMCNAMI	Discussed programs plans and updates
Calendar Year 2021	November 16, 2021	SEORMC NAMI	Attended the NAMI board meeting that focused on program updates and the process used by AllWell in completing mental health screenings and assisting with transferring patients to appropriate psychiatric facilities

- MHA 2.2. SEORMC's Collaborations with Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions SEORMC healthcare professionals learned about the programs and services of Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions and process for referrals (Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions, 2022). The Cedar Ridge Behavioral Health Solutions' programs and services include:
 - (a) Residential Services
 - (b) Outpatient Services
 - (c) Medication-Assisted Treatment
 - (d) Psychiatric Services
 - (e) Recovery Housing
 - (f) Intensive Outpatient Programs
 - (g) Employment Services
 - (h) Groups Services
 - (i) Driver Intervention Services
 - (j) Department of Transportation (DOT) Testing
 - (k) COVID-19 Rapid Testing
- MHA 2.3. SEORMC's Collaborations with Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. SEORMC healthcare professionals learned about the programs and services of Guernsey Health Choices, Inc. and process for referrals (Guernsey Health Choices, Inc., 2022). The Guernsey Health Choices' programs and services include:
 - (a) Mental and behavioral health assessments includes determining the patient's needs related to mental health, substance use disorders, and dual diagnosis
 - (b) Outpatient counseling includes alcohol and substance abuse counseling, mental health counseling, dual diagnosis counseling, and Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR)
 - (c) Support groups includes Intensive Outpatient Program (IOP), anger management, domestic violence, recovery management, trauma care, parenting, cognitive behavioral Interventions, medication-assisted treatments, recovery, living in balance, and peer support
 - (d) Case management includes assessment of social determinants of health such as housing, transportation, jobs, food security, medical-related needs, access to Social Security benefits, education, and financial management.
- MHA 2.4 SEORMC's Collaboration with Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC) —SEORMC provided space for MVHC to expand Medication-Assisted-Treatment services. Refer to MHA 1.1 and MHA 1.2 for details on the partnerships.

MHA – 2.5. SEORMC's Collaboration with the Noble County Health Department — SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator has implemented the following:

MHA – 2.5.1. Collaboration with the Noble County Wellness Coalition — participation in all meetings and activities with the Noble County Wellness Coalition, which provides community education and health and wellness, family fun activities, and promotion of healthy living. The Noble County Wellness Coalition's mission is "to assist the people of Noble County in improving their lives by maintaining a healthy county environment through a sustainable, collaborative process that supports community physical and nutritional needs." The Wellness Coalition members' vision "includes being committed to serving their community and creating the best place to live, work, play, grow, and enjoy life."

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Program	Activities	Community Partners
Calendar Year 2020	March 2, 2020	Meeting to learn about services offered at Noble County Health Department	SEORMC Noble County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	March 9, 2020	Noble County Coordinated Council meeting	SEORMCNoble County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	March 11,2020	Noble County Health Department Community Health Needs Assessment Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department AllIWell Noble County Senior Center Noble County Job and Family Services
Calendar Year 2020	September 17, 2020	Noble County Wellness Coalition Meeting Wellness Coordinator participated in the monthly Noble County Wellness Coalition meeting to provide community updates from GHS. Wellness Coordinator shared information and education regarding upcoming screenings and services offered, specifically targeted toward Noble County residents	 SEORMC Noble County Health Department Ohio State University Extension Noble County residents
Calendar Year 2020	October 15, 2020	Wellness Coordinator participated in monthly Noble County Wellness Coalition meeting to provide community updates from GHS. Wellness Coordinator shared information/education regarding upcoming screenings/services offered, specifically targeted toward Noble County residents. Discussion of ways to partner with area organizations and event planning in Noble County for the 2021 year.	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Ohio State University Extension Noble County residents

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Program	Activities	Community Partners
Calendar Year 2020	December 2,2020	Meetings to initiate collaboration and sharing of experiences among various agencies. COVID-19 planning to include personal protective equipment and vaccine supplies, vaccine distribution including where, when and how often clinics would be held.	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department.
Calendar Year 2020	December 9,2020	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	December 16, 2020	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	December 23, 2020	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	December 30, 2020	COVID-19 planning meeting	 SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Program	Activities	Community Partners
Calendar Year 2020	January 6, 2021	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Dept Noble County Emergency Management Agency, Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency, Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2020	January 13, 2021	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	January 13, 2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	January 20, 2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	January 27, 2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	February 3, 2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	February 10,2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	 SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Program	Activities	Community Partners
Calendar Year 2021	February 17, 2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	February 24,2021	COVID-19 Planning Meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	March 3, 2021	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	March 17, 2021	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	April 14,2021	COVID-19 planning meeting	SEORMC Noble County Health Department Noble County Emergency Management Agency Guernsey County Emergency Management Agency Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	May 20,2021	 Discussion and planning for the 2021 walking challenge for Noble County area businesses. Wellness Coordinator becomes Vice President of the committee. 	SEORMC The Ohio State University (OSU) Extension Noble County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	May 21, 2021	Discussion and planning for the process and walking challenge awards	 SEORMC The Ohio State University (OSU) Extension Noble County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	June 22,2021	Freedom 5K planning meeting	 SEORMC The Ohio State University (OSU) Extension Noble County Health Department

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Program	Activities	Community Partners
Calendar Year 2021	October 14,2021	Noble County Wellness Coalition monthly meeting, discussed new logo, planning for winter wellness activities	 SEORMC The Ohio State University (OSU) Extension Noble County Health Department
Calendar Year 2021	December 1, 2021	Noble County Wellness Coalition monthly meeting	 SEORMC The Ohio State University (OSU) Extension Noble County Health Department

MHA – 2.5.2. Collaboration with the Noble County Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) and implementation of community wellness activities — aims to provide financial assistance during breast cancer screenings for underinsured or uninsured. Related to the mammography services in Noble County, the details of community activities related to mammography screening services and other wellness programs and services in Noble County and the number of participants served are listed below. Collaborations with the Noble County Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) and OhioHealth are tabulated.

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served (if applicable)
Calendar Year 2020	January-December 2020	SEORMC provided mammograms at the hospital for community members in place of mobile mammography services, which were temporarily discontinued due to COVID-19 restrictions	SEORMC OhioHealth	26 persons served
Calendar Year 2020	January-December 2020	The Ohio State University Mammography van came to Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department	 The Ohio State University Cambridge- Guernsey County Health Department 	25 persons served
Calendar Year 2020	October 14, 2020	Noble County BCCP case manager completed a provider visit with Community Health Link to update BCCP program and any changes made in the grant year.	SEORMC Noble County Health Department	Not applicable
Calendar Year 2020	January-December 2020	SEORMC did complete self-requesting mammograms for community members in place of mobile mammography services and Community Health Link screenings, as the services were on hold due to Covid-19 Restrictions	SEORMC OhioHealth Noble County Health Department	26 persons served

Continuation of MHA – 2.5.2. Collaboration with the Noble County Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) and implementation of community wellness activities

Reporting Period	Dates of Events/Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served (if applicable)
Calendar Year 2021	May 21,2021	Walking Challenge	 Noble County Health Department The Ohio State University Extension SEORMC 	132 participants
Calendar Year 2021	July 3,2021	Freedom 5K in at Caldwell, Ohio walking trail	Noble County Health Department SEORMC The Ohio State University Extension	60 participants
Calendar Year 2021	November 17,2021	Noble County Wellness Coalition monthly meeting discussed "Find the Elf hunt at Noble County businesses	Noble County Health Department SEORMC The Ohio State University Extension	70 participants

MHA – 2.6. Collaboration with Noble County in the implementation of community wellness activities — The SEORMC Wellness Coordinator, Hannah Bingham, led the collaborative work with the Noble County Health Department.

Calendar Year 2020

Dates of Events	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served (if applicable)
October 14, 2020	Noble County Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) case manager completed a provider visit with Community Health Link to update the Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) and any changes made in the grant year.	Noble County Health Department, SEORMC	Not applicable
January-December 2020	SEORMC did complete self-requesting mammograms for community members in place of mobile mammography services and Community Health Link screenings, as the services were on hold due to COVID-19 restrictions	OhioHealth, Noble County Health Department, SEORMC	26 persons

Dates of Events/Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
April 2, 2021	Hannah Bingham, Wellness Coordinator, and Leisa Arnold, Radiology Coordinator, met with Heather Rockhold from OhioHealth to discuss mammography needs within our community and the process of scheduling and follow-up visits if needed to provide progress to the CHNA action item of improving access to care in our community.	Ohio Health, Superior Medical Practice	Not applicable
May 12,2021	Hannah Bingham met with OhioHealth representatives to plan for Mobile Mammography Unit coming to Becky Hall's office on June 15th, 2021. Discussed registration process, marketing materials, and education on the day of the event.	SEORMC, OhioHealth	Not applicable

Continuation of MHA - 2.6. Collaboration with Noble County in the implementation of community wellness activities:

Dates of Events/Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
June 15,2021	SEORMC's Oncology Navigator present at Ohio Health Mammography Unit to provide support and education on site to participants.	OhioHealth, SEORMC	12 women
July 22,2021	SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator, participated in discussion/meeting with Dr. Melissa Thomas representing the Komen Foundation in efforts to collaborate on the mobile mammography unit in rural areas	Komen/Hoffnung Foundation, SEORMC	Not applicable
September 14,2021	The Ohio Health Mobile Mammography Unit visited Calais, Ohio, serving 17 community women. SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator completed registration, planning, and organizing the event, coordinating location, working with Ohio Health contacts to work through processes, and schedule appointment times. SEORMC's Oncology Navigator completed several site visits to perform outreach in the Calais community to market to the Amish community and register women for this event. SEORMC's Oncology Navigator also spent time coordinating with the Ohio Health Breast Navigator to determine if patients qualified for BCCP benefits to receive full coverage of their mammograms. SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator were present the day of the event to register each patient and complete outreach.	SEORMC, OhioHealth	17 women

Continuation of MHA - 2.6. Collaboration with Noble County in the implementation of community wellness activities:

Dates of Events/Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
October 13,2021	The OhioHealth Mobile Mammography Unit visited Caldwell, Ohio, at Superior Med.	SEORMC, OhioHealth	15 women
October 20, 2021	Women were evaluated with the breast screening risk assessment and reviewed by Dr. Sarap. The Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) was on site and evaluated and enrolled all 4 participants.	SEORMC, Noble County Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP)	4 women
October 28,2021	Hoffnung/Komen Mobile Mammography Unit in Salesville, Ohio.	Hoffnung/Komen, SEORMC	18 women

MHA – 2.7. SEORMC partnerships with the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department (CGCHD) — SEORMC collaborated with CGCHD to provide community COVID-19 vaccine clinics during initial COVID-19 pandemic to offset the vast need for COVID-19 vaccinations within Guernsey County. SEORMC also collaborated with CGCHD by participating in routine meetings with Noble and Guernsey County Emergency Management Agencies and Noble County Health Department during the pandemic to share experiences and provide resources to one another's organization. The table below shows a summary of the meetings that SEORMC representatives attend as part of CGCHD Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plan. SEORMC representatives actively participated in the mental health and addiction and chronic disease work groups.

Calendar Year 2020

In Calendar Year 2020, SEORMC was primarily involved in collaborations related to health and wellness programs and planning and developing the Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan. SEORMC's Calendar Year 2020 activities are summarized below.

Dates of Meetings	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
March 9, 2020	Wellness and Education coordinators met with the Director of Nursing, Director, Health Educator, of the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department to discuss what programs are offered within the organization and community to move forward with restructuring area programs and lifestyle classes that are offered to the broader community.	Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department (CGCHD), SEORMC	Not applicable
August 13, 2020	Wellness Coordinator represented SEORMC in Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department's Community Health Assessment virtual meeting. Primary focus of the meeting was to discuss and brain-storm the biggest community needs/issues that should be addressed in the Guernsey County Community Health Assistant. The Wellness Coordinator worked with various community stakeholders to create a list of most important issues.	CGCHD, SEORMC	Not applicable
November 4, 2020	SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator participated in the Chronic Disease Workgroup to initiate planning for developing the Guernsey County Community Health Improvement Plan.	CGCHD, SEORMC	Not applicable

Calendar Year 2021

In Calendar Year 2021, SEORMC was primarily involved in collaborating with the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department in providing access to COVID-19 Vaccination Clinics to the community free of charge. The Calendar Year 2021 activities are summarized below.

Dates of Meetings	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
January 5, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine administration planning and offering community vaccine clinics to the public	Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department (CGCHD), SEORMC	0
January 23, 2021	Community Vaccine Clinic offered first dose for persons age 80 years and older	CGCHD, SEORMC	220
January 30, 2021	Community Vaccine Clinic offered first dose for 75 years and older	CGCHD, SEORMC	220
January 31, 2021	Vaccine administration planning and offering community vaccine clinics to the public	CGCHD, SEROMC	0
February 6, 2021	Community Vaccine Clinic offered first dose for 70 years and older	CGCHD, SEORMC	201
February 8, 2021	Task Force Planning Meeting	CGCHD, SEORMC	0
February 11, 2021	Sharing vaccine information with the public	CGCHD, SEORMC, AVC Communications	0
February 13, 2021	Community COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic offered first dose for 65 years and older	CGCHD, SEORMC	200
February 19, 2021	Community Vaccine administration	CGCHD, SEORMC	3
February 20, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine clinic second dose 80 yrs. And older	CGCHD, SEORMC	209
February 23, 2021	Community Collaboration call on COVID-19 Vaccines	MVHC, CGCHD, SEORMC	0
February 25, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	120
February 27, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	233
March 4, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	219
March 6, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	198
March 10, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	114
March 11, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	110
March 13, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	203
March 16, 2021	Vaccine Task Force Meeting	CGCHD , SEORMC	0

Continuation of MHA— 2.7. SEORMC partnerships with the Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department (CGCHD)

Dates of Meetings	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
March 17, 2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department (CGCHD), SEORMC	120
March 19,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	109
March 25,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD , SEORMC	268
March 29,2021	COVID Task Force Meeting	CGCHD, SEORMC	0
April 1,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	262
April 8,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	138
April 16,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	113
April 22,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	105
April 29,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	88
May 6,2021	COVID-19 Vaccine Clinic to the public	CGCHD, SEORMC	30
August 18,2021 August 25, 2021 September 8, 2021 September 15, 2021 September 29, 2021 October 6, 2021 October 13, 2021 October 20, 2021 October 27, 2021 November 3, 2021 November 10,2021 November 17, 2021 December 1, 2021 December 8, 2021 December 15, 2021 December 29, 2021	Routine meetings with Noble and Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Departments and Emergency Management Agency were held. Meetings involved collaboration and sharing of experiences of those involved.	SEORMC, Guernsey and Noble County Emergency Management Agencies, Noble County Health Department., CGCHD	Not applicable

MHA – 3. Compassion fatigue – SEORMC will look at implementing annual community wide resiliency training to all interested patient caregivers

MHA – 3.1. Collaboration with Genesis Healthcare System on providing community resiliency training to caregivers

Genesis Healthcare Systems and Allwell Behavioral Health Services in partnership with SEORMC provided COVID-19: Building Resilience training to area agencies along with community caregivers. Learned objectives include:

- Recognizing and understanding emotional response
- Identifying how thinking patterns contribute to increased stress and anxiety
- Explore how to change over thinking patterns to reduce stress and anxiety
- Learn how to develop a personalized plan for improving resilience

SEORMC participated in planning meetings with AllWell Behavioral Health Services and Genesis related to this community resiliency training. The details are shown below.

Reporting Period	Dates of meeting	Participating Agencies	Meeting Details
Calendar Year 2020	September 10, 2020	SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	Discussed dates of training and who would be involved
Calendar Year 2020	November 20, 2020	SEORMC,AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	Meeting to discuss goals of resiliency training, target audience, marketing, and future collaboration.
Calendar Year 2021	May 8, 2021	SEORMC, All Well Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	Meeting to discuss future training dates

The details of the community resiliency training and the number of participants is shown below.

Reporting Period	Dates of training	Participating Agencies	Number of Participants
Calendar Year 2021	February 26, 2021	SEORMC Wellness Coordinator, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	4 participants
Calendar Year 2021	March 4, 2021	SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis, People to People Counseling Services, Guernsey County Board of Developmental Disabilities	19 participants
Calendar Year 2021	March 30, 2021	SEORMC, Area Agency on Aging, Job & Family Services	4 participants
Calendar Year 2021	May 17, 2021; May 20, 2021	SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	9 participants
Calendar Year 2021	October 28, 2021	SEROMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	7 participants
Calendar Year 2021	November 11, 2021	SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services, Genesis	6 participants

- MHA 4. Regional drug coalition SEORMC will continue to coordinate an active and sustainable regional drug coalition in collaboration with various mental and behavioral health agencies. (This action aligns with the Ohio 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan.)
 - MHA 4.1. Summary of SEORMC meetings with Noble County C.A.R.E.S. to learn about existing mental health and addiction programs and services. C.A.R.E.S. represent Community, Access, Resources, Education, and Services. Noble County C.A.R.E.S. has focused in addressing Noble County's alarming opiate problem.

Calendar Year 2020

Dates of Meetings	Topics/Discussion	Community Partners	Persons Served
January 16, 2020	Recovery Resources/Emerging Trends	Noble County Health Department (NCHD), SEORMC, All Well Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
February 20, 2020	Drug Overdose Trends in Noble County, Community Education on vaping	NCHD, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
May 21, 2020	COVID-19 Impacts on area agencies	NCHD, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
July 16, 2020	COVID-19 and impacts of AllWell telehealth visits for clients, filling workforce needs	NCHD, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
September 17, 2020	Emerging Drug Trends	NCHD, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable

Calendar Year 2021

Dates of Meetings	Topics/Discussion	Community Partners	Persons Served
September 16, 2021	Guest speaker from Buckeye Hills Regional Council on Opioid Resource Navigation	Noble County Health Department, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
October 21, 2021	Guest speaker from Buckeye Hills Regional Council on Opioid Resource Navigation	Noble County Health Department, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable
November 18, 2021	Guest Speaker: Case Management Director from Mental Health & Recovery Services Board	Noble County Health Department, SEORMC, AllWell Behavioral Health Services	Not applicable

MHA 4.2. Collaboration with CHOICES Anti-Drug Coalition of Guernsey County

The SEORMC Chief Nursing Officer, Gina Woods, MSN, RN, NEA-BC actively participated in CHOICES Anti-Drug Coalition of Guernsey County, which is a regional drug collaborative in Guernsey County. CHOICES represent the concepts of <u>Community</u>, <u>Hope</u>, <u>Opportunity</u>, <u>Independence</u>, <u>Change</u>, <u>Empowerment</u>, <u>Success</u>. The main objective is to address drug addiction and substance use.

MHA –4.3. Outcomes from SEORMC's alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) through participation in regional drug coalitions.

As indicated in MHA 4.1 and MHA 4.2, SEORMC and its representatives have been actively involved in Noble County CARES and CHOICES Anti-Drug Coalition of Guernsey County. The Table below shows drug addiction and substance use data for Guernsey and Noble Counties based on County Health Rankings for Guernsey and Noble County that was released in 2019, 2020 and 2021. Positive impact (highlighted in yellow) of SEOMC's collaborative efforts to participate in regional coalitions was observed through decrease in rates of drug overdose deaths suicides, excessive drinking, alcohol-related traffic deaths, and increase in mental health providers.

Mental Health and Addiction Measure	County Health Rankings Data Year	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Drug overdose deaths	2019	31	26	37
Number of drug poisoning deaths	2020	29	23	38
per 100,000 population	2021	27	No data	38
	Progress status	Decreased	Decreased	Increased
Homicides	2019	4	No data	6
Number of deaths due to homicide per	2020	4	No data	6
100,000 population	2021	4	No data	6
	Progress status	No change	No data	No change
Suicides	2019	No data	No data	No data
Number of deaths due to suicide per	2020	17	16	14
100,000 population (age-adjusted)	2021	16	No data	15
	Progress status	Decreased	Insufficient data	Increased
Firearm fatalities	2019	11	No data	12
Number of deaths due to firearms per	2020	12	No data	13
100,000 population	2021	12	No data	13
	Progress status	Increased	No data	Increased
Poor or fair health	2019	19%	15%	17%
Percent of adults reporting fair or poor	2020	19%	16%	18%
health (age- adjusted)	2021	22%	21%	18%
	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased

Continuation of MHA -4.3. SEORMC's alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP)

Mental Health and Addiction Measure	County Health Rankings Data Year	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Poor physical health days	2019	4.1	3.7	4
Average number of physically unhealthy	2020	4.3	3.9	3.9
days reported in past 30 days (age-	2021	5	4.6	4.1
adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Poor mental health days	2019	4.3	3.9	4.3
Average number of	2020	4.7	4.3	4.6
mentally unhealthy days reported in	2021	5.6	5.2	4.8
past 30 days (age- adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Frequent physical distress	2019	15%	14%	12%
Percent of adults reporting 14 or more	2020	13%	12%	12%
days of poor physical health per	2021	15%	14%	12%
month (age- adjusted)	Progress status	No change	No change	No change
Frequent mental distress	2019	14%	12%	14%
Percent of adults	2020	15%	13%	15%
reporting 14 or more days of poor mental	2021	18%	17%	16%
health per month	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
HIV prevalence	2019	58	209	213
Number of people aged 13 years and	2020	73	216	218
older with human immunodeficiency	2021	76	265	228
infection per 100,000 population	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Adult smoking	2019	21%	18%	23%
Percent of adults who are current	2020	22%	17%	21%
smokers (age- adjusted)	2021	27%	26%	21%
,	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Decreased

Continuation of MHA 4.3. SEORMC's alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP)

Mental Health and Addiction Measure	County Health Rankings Data Year	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Excessive drinking	2019	17%	17%	19%
Percent of adults reporting binge or	2020	20%	17%	16%
heavy drinking	2021	16%	20%	18%
	Progress status	Decreased	Increased	Decreased
Alcohol-impaired driving deaths	2019	31%	57%	33%
3	2020	25%	57%	33%
	2021	34%	33%	32%
	Progress status	Increased	Decreased	Decreased
Primary care physicians	2019	2,300:1	4,760:1	1,300:1
Ratio of population	2020	2,300:1	4,800:1	1,310:1
to primary care physicians	2021	2,440:1	7,180:1	1,300:1
,	Progress status	Decreased	Decreased	No change
Other primary care providers	2019	1,564:1	2,058:1	1,1,61:1
Ratio of population to other primary	2020	1,445:1	2,051:1	1,009:1
care providers (nurse practitioners	2021	1,180:1	2,060:1	920:1
and physician assistants)	Progress status	Increased	No change	Increased
Mental health providers	2019	690:1	1,440:1	470:1
Ratio of population	2020	530:1	1,030:1	410:1
to mental health providers	2021	490:1	1,030:1	380:1
,	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased

Priority Need 2 (2019 CHNA): Chronic Diseases (CD)

CD – 1. Childhood obesity – Expand current programs related to childhood obesity. Increase attendance in programs such as "Crunch for Health" "Fun 2 B Fit" by 10%.

Impacts for Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

CD – 1.1. Achievements related to childhood obesity programs — SEORMC collaborated with schools in Guernsey County in implementing Crunch for Health and Fun 2 B Fit. The details are shown below.

Community/SEORMC Program	Community Collaborators	Calendar Year 2020	Calendar 2021
Crunch for Health — Various health and wellness activities for fourth graders that promotes health and well- being.	YMCA SEORMC Cambridge City Schools United Way of Monroe, Guernsey, and Noble Counties	Cambridge City Schools had a kick- off event on March 9, 2020. SEORMC Wellness Coordinator spoke about the benefits of completing the program and focusing on a healthy lifestyle. Served 430 fourth grade students	Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the United Way and YMCA decided not to hold Crunch for Health in 2021.
Fun 2 B Fit Camp — Involves 3 rd -6 th graders in various schools in Guernsey and Noble counties where they are educated on practical skills for healthy eating and overall healthy lifestyle.	YMCA SEORMC The Ohio State University Extension Cambridge City Schools Rolling Hills School District	Camp was canceled due to COVID-19 Restrictions and the YMCA being closed. SEORMC's Nutrition Services /Wellness Department provided 500, free healthy meals to children in Noble County every day of the week in April 2020.	SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator served as the director of the Fun 2 B Fit camp. Together with the Camp Co-director (Occupational Therapist Assistant), they provided health and wellness education along with activities and speakers. The camp focused on nutrition, healthy lifestyle, physical, mental, and emotional well-being. Served 13 students from Guernsey and Noble County schools.

CD – 1.2. SEORMC's Superior Med group of outpatient providers, Inpatient, and Emergency
Department Services serving Ages 2-19 — SEORMC provided care to children ages 2-19 with
obesity diagnosis. The healthcare team educated the parents or guardians or the child on
managing weight.

Name of Outpatient Clinic	Calendar Year 2020	Calendar 2021
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Suresh Thakker 1420 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Served 77 children ages 2-19	Served 63 children ages 2-19
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Ellen Kumler 1420 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Served 54 children ages 2-19	Served 63 children ages 2-19
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Clarice Hall 18125 Woodsfield Road, Caldwell, Ohio 43724	Served 9 children ages 2-19	Served 31 children ages 2-19
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Melissa Nau 1210 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Served 19 children ages 2-19	Served 35 children ages 2-19
SEORMC Inpatient (including observation unit) 1341 Clark St, Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Served 17 children ages 2-19	Served 17 children ages 2-19
SEORMC Emergency Department 1341 Clark Street, Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Served 516 children ages 2-19	Served 516 children ages 2-19

CD — 2. Employer buy-in – Organize local resources to address participation in community available educational programs that are available to the employer's employees. Gauge local employer interest in current or needed programs to address diabetes and obesity within their workforce.

Impacts during Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

Dates	Name of SEORMC's Employer Partners	Name of Education Program(s)	Number of Persons Served
January 16, 2020 October 22,2020	Mid-East Career & Technology Centers — 400 Richards Road, Zanesville, Ohio 43701	Drug Screens for students involved with Drug-Free Clubs of America	January 16, 2020 — 50 students completed drug screens October 22, 2020 — 40 students completed drug screens
February 27, 2020	Superior Hardwoods— 9911 Ohio Ave., Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Completed Hearing & Audio testing	30 employees
May 5, 2020	Colgate Palmolive — 8800 Guernsey Industrial Blvd., Cambridge, Ohio 43725	Provided Hazard Materials Physicals to employees including a physical with WorkPro provider, laboratory draw, fit test, hearing test, and pulmonary function tests to insure employee's health and safety are sufficient prior to coming in contact with hazardous materials.	60 employees
July 9, 2020	Muskingum University — 10 College Dr. New Concord, Ohio 43762	Blood-borne pathogen training to maintenance and janitorial staff	40 employees
October 5, 2020	Guernsey County Government — 627 Wheeling Ave. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	On site flu shot clinic to the Administration team	87 employees
November 4,2020	Mid-East Career & Technology Centers — 400 Richards Rd. Zanesville, Ohio 43701	Drug Screens for employees	20 employees

Dates	Name of SEORMC's Employer Partners	Name of Education Program(s)	Number of Persons Served
January 12, 2021	Mid-East Career & Technology Centers —	Drug screens for students involved with Drug-Free	99 total students served
January 15, 2021	400 Richards Rd.	Clubs of America	January 12, 2021 — 10 students
March 1, 2021	Zanesville, Ohio 43701		January 15, 2021 —
March 4, 2021			10 students
April 26, 2021			March 1, 2021 — 10 students
April 29, 2021 October 18, 2021			March 4, 2021 — 10 students
December 7, 2021			April 26, 2021 — 2 random drug screens
			April 29, 2021— 2 random drug screens
			October 18, 2021 — 43 students
			December 7, 2021 — 12 students
May 18, 2021	Ridge Tool — 9877 Brick Church Rd. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	SEORMC Wellness Coordinator met with Ridge Tool Human Resources and administrative assistant to plan employee health fair for June 10, 2021.	Not applicable
June 10,2021	Ridge Tool — 9877 Brick Church Rd. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	SEORMC's Work Pro conducted on-site health fair for Ridge Tool Employees	100 employees
June 4, 2021	Encore Plastics — 725 Water St. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	SEORMC Wellness Coordinator met with Encore Plastics' Human Resources Manager to provide education and resources for the company's Employee Health Fair on June 16 and 17, 2021.	250 employees

- CD 3. Lifestyles classes Review classes and assess the need to offer additional classes or refine the ones already available. Coordinate with local agencies to increase class attendance within the community's already available health classes related to diabetes and obesity. Lastly, coordinate with local agencies to reduce overlap and better coordinate classes being offered within the community.
 - CD 3.1. Learning and review of lifestyle classes targeting people with diabetes or prediabetes that are available in Guernsey and Noble Counties to refer SEORMC patients—

Date	Responsible Person	Outcome of Meeting/Education Program
February 5, 2020	 SEORMC Wellness Coordinator Area Agency on Aging Region 9 	 Learned about diabetes programs offered by the Area Agency on Aging Region 9. Classes were cancelled due to COVID-19.
March 2, 2020	SEORMC Wellness Coordinator Noble County Health Department	Learned about the Diabetes Self-Management Education (DSME) programs offered by the Noble County Health Department and First Church of the Nazarene Classes were cancelled due to COVID-19.
Calendar Years 2020 and 2021	SEORMC Wellness Coordinator The Ohio State University Extension Guernsey County educator (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program)	 Education on healthy eating and creating a healthy lifestyle 0 persons served in Calendar Year 2020 due to COVID-19 pandemic 15 persons served in calendar Year 2021

- CD 4. Diabetes Self-Management Education implement DSME classes in collaboration with the Ohio Area Agency on Aging and Area Agency on Aging Region 9. (This action aligns with the Ohio 2017-2019 State Health Improvement Plan.)
 - **CD 4.1.** Diabetes outpatient assessment and individualized education provided by SEORMC's diabetic educator which includes diet, medication, monitoring, creating goals, and establishing an improved lifestyle. The three-part series diabetes classes which contain same content as 1:1 education with more detailed content in a supportive atmosphere.

Clinic Name/Inpatient Department Name	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2020	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2021
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Suresh Thakker 1420 Clark St. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	2	1
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Ellen Kumler 1420 Clark St. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	0	0
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Clarice Hall 18125 Woodsfield Rd Caldwell, Ohio 43724	82	93
Superior Med Outpatient Clinic Dr. Melissa Nau 1210 Clark St Cambridge, Ohio 43725	155	157
SEORMC Diabetes Education Classes Diabetes outpatient education assessment and individualized education which includes diet, medication, monitoring, goals, and lifestyle.	21 (In-person January to February 2020; discontinued from March to December 2020 due to the COVID- 19 pandemic)	62 (Education was provided by telephone throughout Calendar Year 2021)
SEORMC Support Group for People with Diabetes 3-part series diabetes classes which contain same content as 1:1 education with more detailed content in a supportive atmosphere, ended in March of 2020 due to COVID-19.	10 (In-person January to February 2020; discontinued from March to December 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic)	87 (Education was provided by telephone throughout Calendar Year 2021)
SEORMC Inpatient Diabetes Education Diabetes educator provided inpatient diabetes education based on evidenced-based curricula	191 hospitalized patients	184 hospitalized patients

CD – 4.2. Referral of SEORMC patients to the Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 Diabetes Self-Management Education — The Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 serves Guernsey County, Belmont County, Carroll County, Coshocton County, Harrison County, Holmes County, Jefferson County, Muskingum County, and Tuscarawas County. The Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 provides Diabetes Self-Management Education in Guernsey County. The curricula is delivered in six, weekly, interactive, small-group sessions that teaches evidenced-based strategies for managing type 2 diabetes and prediabetes. The Diabetes Self-Management Education uses volunteer instructors, or "lay leaders," to conduct the workshops. Volunteers often have ongoing health issues and lived experience themselves, which are valuable when interacting with workshop participants. The education focuses on food, how to count carbohydrates, meal planning, depression, sleep disorders, communicating with primary care providers and healthcare system while building upon education learned from each week.

In February 2020, the SEORMC Wellness Coordinator, Hannah Bingham met with the social worker from the Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 to learn more about the programs and workshops and strategies for referring SEORMC patients. Moreover, Hannah Bingham also met with the SEORMC diabetes educator to discuss an effective approach of ensuring an effective referral process. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 did not conduct classes in Calendar Years 2020 and 2021.

CD – 4.3. Outcomes from SEORMC's alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) — manifested through SEORMC's diabetes self-management education programs and services and collaboration with the Ohio Area Agency on Aging Region 9 and other community organizations. Positive impacts were achieved in diabetes prevalence, Food Environment Index, access to exercise opportunities, preventable hospital stays and flu vaccinations.

Chronic Disease Measures	County Health Rankings Data Year	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Diabetes prevalence	2019	12%	14%	12%
, Diabotos provaionos	2020	12%	13%	12%
Percent of adults aged 20+ with	2021	13%	13%	12%
diagnosed diabetes (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Decreased	No change
Adult obesity	2019	35%	36%	32%
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	2020	36%	39%	32%
Percent of population (age 18+ with	2021	36%	38%	34%
body mass index (BMI) greater than or equal to 30 kg/m² (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Food Environment Index	2019	7.3	7	6.7
	2020	7.3	7	6.7
Index of factors that contribute to a	2021	6.8	7.1	6.6
healthy food environment, from 0 (worst) to 10 (best)	Progress status	Decreased	Increased	Decreased
Physical inactivity	2019	27%	30%	25%
	2020	30%	30%	26%
Percent of adults age 18+ reporting	2021	32%	33%	26%
no leisure-time physical activity (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Access to exercise opportunities	2019	49%	32%	84%
• •	2020	51%	32%	84%
Percent of population with adequate	2021	51%	32%	84%
access to locations for physical activity	Progress status	Increased	No change	No change
Food insecurity	2019	16%	14%	15%
•	2020	16%	14%	15%
Percent of population who lack	2021	16%	15%	14%
adequate access to food.	Progress status	No change	Increased	Decreased
Limited access to healthy foods	2019	6%	13%	7%
•	2020	6%	13%	7%
Percent of population who are low-	2021	6%	13%	7%
income and do not live close to a grocery store	Progress status	No change	No change	No change
Insufficient sleep	2019	42%	42%	41%
•	2020	38%	37%	38%
Percent of adults who report fewer	2021	42%	42%	41%
than 7 hours of sleep on average (age-adjusted)	Progress status	No change	No change	No change
Poor or fair health	2019	19%	15%	17%
	2020	19%	16%	18%
Percent of adults reporting fair or	2021	22%	21%	18%
poor health (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Poor physical health days	2019	4.1	3.7	4
Average number of physically	2020	4.3	3.9	3.9
unhealthy days reported in past 30	2021	5	4.6	4.1
days (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased

Continuation of CD 4.3. Outcomes from SEORMC's alignment with the State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP)

Chronic Disease Measures	County Health Rankings Data	Guernsey County	Noble County	Ohio
Poor mental health days	Year 2019	4.3	3.9	4.3
Poor mental nealth days				
Average property of montally	2020	4.7	4.3	4.6
Average number of mentally unhealthy days reported in past 30	2021	5.6	5.2	4.8
days (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Frequent physical distress	2019	15%	14%	12%
Percent of adults reporting 14 or	2020	13%	12%	12%
more days of poor physical health	2021	15%	14%	12%
per month (age-adjusted)	Progress status	No change	No change	No change
Frequent mental distress	2019	14%	12%	14%
•	2020	15%	13%	15%
Percent of adults reporting 14 or	2021	18%	17%	16%
more days of poor mental health per month	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Adult smoking	2019	21%	18%	23%
3	2020	22%	17%	21%
Percent of adults who are current	2021	27%	26%	21%
smokers (age-adjusted)	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Decreased
Uninsured	2019	7%	7%	7%
Percent of population under age 65	2020	9%	8%	7%
without health insurance	2021	9%	8%	8%
	Progress status	Increased	Increased	Increased
Primary care physicians	2019	2,300:1	4,760:1	1,300:1
, , ,	2020	2,300:1	4,800:1	1,310:1
Ratio of population to primary care	2021	2,440:1	7,180:1	1,300:1
physicians	Progress status	Decreased	Decreased	No change
Other primary care providers	2019	1,564:1	2,058:1	1.1.61:1
Ratio of population to other primary	2020	1,445:1	2,051:1	1,009:1
care providers (nurse practitioners	2021	1,180:1	2,060:1	920:1
and physician assistants)	Progress status	Increased	No change	Increased
Preventable hospital stays	2019	6,312	5,081	5,135
	2020	6,557	7,740	5,168
Rate of hospital stays for	2021	5,825	6,405	4,901
ambulatory-care sensitive conditions per 100,000 Medicare enrollees	Progress status	Decreased	Increased	Decreased
Flu vaccinations	2019	47%	46%	47%
Percent of fee-for-service (FFS)	2020	45%	47%	49%
Medicare enrollees that had an	2021	45%	50%	51%
annual flu vaccination.	Progress status	Decreased	Increased	Increased

Priority Need 3 (2019 CHNA): Access to Care (AC)

AC – 1. Assist Noble County in their application for a Federally Qualified Health Clinic (FQHC) by:
(a) supporting in the application process, (b) providing data pertinent to Noble County's community health needs, and (c) reviewing needs for financial assistance.

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

Noble County decided not to proceed with its application for a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC). Noble County set-up the Caldwell Family Health Center, which was operated by Ohio Hills Health Centers, an existing FQHC that serves southeast Ohio Counties. The Caldwell Family Health Center is located at 44069 Marietta Road, Suite 200, Caldwell, Ohio 43724-9124 (Ohio Hills Health Centers, 2022). Due to the change in Noble County's decision not to proceed with its FQHC application, they did not need data related to community health needs and assistance with reviewing Noble County needs for financial assistance.

Apart from having a clinic in Caldwell, Ohio, the Ohio Hills Health Centers have clinics in Barnesville, Freeport, Quaker City, and Woodsfield. The Ohio Hills Health Centers serves Belmont, Guernsey, Harrison, Monroe, and Noble Counties with the following services: (a) family and internal medicine (b) immunizations, laboratory and x-ray services, (c) preventive care, (d) patient education and support, and (e) individual and family counseling.

AC-2. Collaborate with local agencies such as (but not limited to) Guernsey County Senior Citizen Center, Southeast Area Transit, and managed care agencies (CareSource, Molina Healthcare, Buckeye Health Plan, United Healthcare, Paramount Advantage) to provide patients with access to transportation to medical appointments within Guernsey and Noble Counties.

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

AC – 2.1. Patients who received transportation assistance in Calendar Year 2020 and 2021 — SEORMC collaborated with the Guernsey County Senior Citizens Center, Inc. in providing access to transportation.

Community Partner	Briefly Explain Transportation Assistance Program	Count of patients provided with transportation assistance in Calendar Year 2020	Count of patients provided with transportation assistance in Calendar Year 2021
Guernsey County Senior Citizen Center: 1022 Carlisle Ave. Cambridge, Ohio 43725	The transportation assistance program is available to all Guernsey County residents, age 60 and older. The vehicles	322 one-way trips16 referrals	520 one-way trips26 referrals
	include four modified minivans, six handicap vans, one 16-passenger van and three standard size passenger vans.		
	Transportation is provided to help patients go to medical appointments, financial institutions, retail stores, nutrition sites, social activities, and places of employment.		

AC – 3. Collaborate with OhioHealth in providing mobile mammography services to Noble County.

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

AC – 3.1. Number of patients who had a mammography screening — including diagnostic or ultrasound from SEORMC during Calendar Years 2020 and 2021

	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2020	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2021
Screening Mammogram	3,161	3,696
Diagnostic Mammogram	242	333
Ultrasound Follow-Up	662	768

AC - 3.2. Collaboration with OhioHealth Mobile Mammography —

Calendar Year 2020

The OhioHealth Mobile Mammography unit did not come to Noble County in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic and outreach services being put on hold. SEORMC and OhioHealth collaborated to discuss future services in rural areas, specifically targeted in Noble County

Calendar Year 2021

The OhioHealth Mammography unit came to Calais, Ohio on September 14, 2021, and SEORMC's Medical Practice office on June 15, 2021 and October 12,2021, serving uninsured or underinsured women. SEORMC collaborated with OhioHealth to offer mobile mammography services to uninsured and underinsured women in Noble and surrounding counties.

AC-3.2. Summary of activities related to providing mammography services in Noble County in collaboration with the OhioHealth Mammography Unit.

Dates of Events/ Programming	Activities	Community Partners	Persons Served
April 2, 2021	 Hannah Bingham, Wellness Coordinator, and Leisa Arnold, Radiology Coordinator, met with Heather Rockhold from OhioHealth to discuss mammography screening needs within Noble County. The meeting discussed process of scheduling and follow-up visits if needed as means of improving access to care in our community. 	OhioHealth, Superior Med Clinic	Not applicable
May 12, 2021	 Hannah Bingham met with Ohio Health representatives to plan for Mobile Mammography Unit coming to Becky Hall's office on June 15, 2021. Discussed registration process, marketing materials, and education on the day of the event. 	SEORMC, OhioHealth	Not applicable
June 15, 2021	SEORMC's Oncology Navigator present at Ohio Health Mammography Unit to provide support and education on site to participants.	OhioHealth, SEORMC	12 women
July 22, 2021	SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator, participated in discussion/meeting with Dr. Melissa Thomas representing the Komen Foundation in efforts to collaborate on the Hoffnung/Komen Mobile Mammography unit in rural areas.	Komen/Hoffnung Foundation, SEORMC	Not applicable
September 14, 2021	 The OhioHealth Mobile Mammography Unit provided service in Calais, Ohio and served 17 women. SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator completed registration, planning, and organizing the event, coordinating location, working with OhioHealth contacts to work through processes, and schedule appointment times. SEORMC's Oncology Navigator completed several site visits to perform outreach in the Calais community to market to the Amish community and register women for this event. SEORMC's Oncology Navigator also spent time coordinating with the OhioHealth Breast Navigator to determine if patients qualified for BCCP benefits to receive full coverage of their mammograms. SEORMC's Wellness Coordinator and Oncology Navigator were present the day of the event to register each patient and complete outreach. 	SEORMC, OhioHealth	17 women
October 13, 2021	The OhioHealth Mobile Mammography Unit provided service at Caldwell, Ohio, at Superior Med-Becky Hall's office.	SEORMC, Ohio Health	15 women
October 20, 2021	Women were evaluated with the breast screening risk assessment and findings were reviewed by Dr. Sarap. The Breast and Cervical Cancer Program (BCCP) was on site and evaluated and enrolled 4 participants.	SEORMC, Noble County BCCP	4 women
October 28,2021	Hoffnung/Komen Mobile Mammography Unit provided service in Salesville, Ohio.	Hoffnung/Komen, SEORMC	18 women

AC - 4. Partner with Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC) and other community partners in developing comprehensive list of health education and healthcare resources within the local community and educate residents on how they can access the appropriate level of care to meet their healthcare needs.

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

- AC 4.1. SEORMC created a bulletin to help people find the OhioHealth Community Resource Directory On November 1, 2021, SEORMC created a bulletin that summarizes the following: (a) directions on how to find resources using the OhioHealth.findhelp.com website. The Community Resource Directory could be used to find free or reduced cost services that support good health, like transportation, food, housing, mental health services and financial assistance.
- AC 4.2. Partnership with the Muskingum Valley Health Center (MVHC) to distribute the bulletin SEORMC partnered with MVHC to distribute the bulletin to the residents of Guernsey and Noble Counties.
- AC 4.3. Examples of community resources that address the priority health needs in the 2019 CHNA include mental health and addiction, chronic disease, and access to care.

Priority Health Needs (2019 CHNA)	Community Resources in Guernsey County)	Community Resources in Noble County
Mental Health and Addiction	Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department	Noble County Health Department
	People to People	Allwell Behavioral Health Services
	Alcohol and Drug Services of Guernsey County	Thompkins Treatment, Inc.
	Thompkins Residential/Intensive Outpatient Treatment Program	
	Allwell Behavioral Health Services	
	Cambridge Counseling Center	
Chronic Disease	Cambridge-Guernsey County Health Department	Noble County Health Department
	Northside Oxygen & Medical Equipment	Superior Med Caldwell Clinic
	Grace Pantry	
	The Salvation Army	
	Cambridge Housing Authority	
Access to Care	Guernsey County Health Department-Women's Health Services	Noble County Health Department
	Children's Health Insurance Program-Ohio Department of Medicaid	Breast & Cervical Cancer Project (BCCP)
	Children with Medical Handicaps- Service Coordination Program (BCMH)	
	Interim Home Healthcare	
	Alter Care of Ohio-Short-term Rehabilitation	

AC – 5. Continue operations of SEORMC clinics in rural areas such as (but not limited to): (a) Outpatient Physical Therapy Caldwell Office located at 18125 Woodsfield Road, Caldwell, Ohio 43724 (Noble County), Melissa Nau, MD Family Practice Office located at 205 Seneca Avenue, Byesville, Ohio, 43723 (Guernsey County), and Kim Ronald Routh, DO, Family Practice Office located at 18125 Woodsfield Rd., Caldwell, Ohio, 43724 (Noble County).

Impacts During Calendar Year 2020 and 2021

AC – 5.1. Programs and services to address access to care in Noble County —

Clinics in Rural Areas	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2020	Top Three Diagnoses in Calendar Year 2020	Number of Patients Served in Calendar Year 2021	Top Three Diagnoses in Calendar Year 2021
SEORMC Outpatient Physical Therapy	244	 Low back pain Pain in right shoulder Pain in right knee and Arthrodesis' Status 	304	Dizziness/GiddinessCervicalgiaPain in right shoulder
SEORMC Clarice Hall, CNP, Family Practice Office	975	 Essential (primary) hypertension Encounter for immunization Type 2 Diabetes mellitus without complications 	905	Essential (primary) hypertension Encounter for immunization Anxiety disorder, unspecified

AC - 5.2. Participation in community outreach in Noble County —

	Participation in Community (Calendar Year 2020)	Participation in Community (Calendar Year 2021)
SEORMC Outpatient Physical Therapy	Offered physicals for area athletes at Cambridge Physical Therapy Campus.	 Participated in Kiwanis Family Fun Day on July 24,2021. The SEORMC Outpatient Physical Therapy provided rehabilitation education to community members. Participated in Noble County Wellness Coalition's 4th of July Freedom 5K on July 3, 2021.
SEORMC Family Practice Office	No activity due to COVID-19 restrictions	SEORMC's Family Practice Office was the site for the Mobile Mammography Unit on June 15, 2021, and October 12,2021. The Mammography Unit served uninsured and/or underinsured women who live in Noble County.